
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2005‑0001


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	1

August 15, 2005

Pamela Nowina

Paul Sommerville

Cynthia Chaplin
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB‑2005‑0001

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas commencing January 1, 2006.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, West Hearing Room,

Toronto, Ontario, on Monday,

August 15, 2005, commencing at 9:30 a.m.

---------

Volume 1

---------

B E F O R E:

PAMELA NOWINA


PRESIDING MEMBER

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

MEMBER

CYNTHIA CHAPLIN

MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR


Board Counsel

RICHARD BATTISTA


Board Staff

COLIN SCHUCH



Board Staff

FRED CASS



Enbridge Gas Distribution

DENNIS O’LEARY

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN


Pollution Probe

ROBERT WARREN


Consumers Council of Canada

ALAN ROSS



TransCanada PipeLines

JOHN DeVELLIS


Vulnerable Energy Consumers






Coalition

JAY SHEPHERD



School Energy Coalition

BRIAN DINGWALL


Canadian Manufacturers &






Exporters, HVAC Coalition

PETER THOMPSON


Industrial Gas Users






Association

EVANGELIA KRIARIS


Direct Energy

ELIZABETH DEMARCO


Advocates For Fair and






Non-Discriminatory Access,






Superior Energy Management,






TransAlta Cogeneration LP,






TransAlta Energy Corp.,






TransCanada Energy Corp.

VALERIE YOUNG


Ontario Association of 






Physical Plant






Administrators

NOLA RUZYCKI



  Ontario Energy Savings Corp

TOM ADAMS




  Energy Probe

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

Appearances






1

Preliminary Matters





3

Presentation of Settlement Proposal by Mr. Cass
4

Further Appearances





20

Preliminary Matters





21

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. Panel 1


25

Charleson, Small; sworn


Examination by Mr. O’Leary


25


Cross-examination by Mr. Warren


30


Cross-examination by Mr. Ross


38


Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson

108

E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAP ENTITLED “PIPELINE


39

INFRASTRUCTURE SERVING ONTARIO”

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MAP ENTITLED “ANR-MICHCON-LINK

39

SUPPLY PATH”

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  TRANSPORTATION TARIFF


48

EFFECTIVE JULY 1ST, 2005

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  INFORMATIONAL POSTINGS


49

CAPACITY, UNSUBSCRIBED

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COST OF PURCHASING GAS AND

55

TRANSPORTING ON ANR-MICHCON-LINK

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY 15,

92

RP-2003‑0203
U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

UNDERTAKING J1.1:  REQUEST FOR VOLUMES DELIVERED

73

UNDER ANR SOUTH-WEST AND SOUTH-EAST LINKS ON AN

ANNUAL BASIS AND WHEN THE CONTRACTS WERE ENTERED

INTO.  ALSO TO INCLUDE MICHCON AND ENBRIDGE

CONTRACTS NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO MAKE NECESSARY INQUIRIES
77

AND ADVISE AS TO WHETHER THE ANR SOUTH-EAST AND

SOUTH-WEST CONTRACTS CONTAIN ANY PROVISIONS FOR

CAPACITY RELEASE. INQUIRIES INTO VOLUMETRIC

STEP-DOWN RIGHTS

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO MAKE NECESSARY INQUIRIES
91

AND ADVISE AS TO THE EXTENT OF ENBRIDGE’S OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN VECTOR PIPELINE

Monday, August 15, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, please be seated.


We're on.  Good morning, everyone.  Can everyone out there hear me?


The Board is sitting today in the matter of application number EB‑2005‑0001, submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution for an order or orders approving or fixing rates for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2006.  The parties to this proceeding have recently ended a settlement conference and on August 10th, 20050 filed a settlement proposal reflecting the participants' position.  


The purpose of this morning's hearing is for the Board to consider that settlement proposal and rule on its acceptability.


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member in this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel are Board members Mr. Paul Sommerville and Ms. Cynthia Chapman.  May I have appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Alan Ross for TransCanada PipeLines.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John DeVellis for the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, Panel.  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, as well as the HVAC Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the Industrial Gas Users Association. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  


MS. KRIARIS:  Evangelia Kriaris for Direct Energy.  Also joining me today is Dave Matthews from the company, and, as well, I would like to enter an appearance for Eric Hoaken, my colleague, who can't join us today, but will be joining us for this hearing.


MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Panel.  Elizabeth DeMarco for the Advocates For Fair and Non-Discriminatory Access, Superior Energy Management, TransCanada Cogeneration and ‑‑ sorry, TransAlta Cogeneration LP and TransAlta Energy Corporation and TransCanada Energy Corporation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  I can barely see you back there.


MS. DeMARCO:  Height has its advantages.


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young for the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me are Mr. Battista and Mr. Schuch.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Millar?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I thought perhaps we could address the matter of the schedule.  As the Panel is aware, the procedural order indicated that we would be hearing a settlement conference today and starting with the evidence tomorrow.  However, there's been some talk that perhaps we should start today with the evidentiary portion this afternoon.


I've spoken with Mr. Cass, and we did send out an e‑mail, either Thursday or Friday, indicating that given the length of the hearing, we may wish to get started with this this afternoon.  And as of this ‑‑ pardon me, as of this morning, I hadn't heard any objections to that proposal, and I think Mr. Cass is prepared to go this afternoon.  


However, perhaps we could seek -- if anyone else has any comments on this, but Board Staff is prepared to go this afternoon and I understand Enbridge is, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  That's right, Madam Chair, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have any concerns about starting the evidentiary portion this afternoon?  All right, assuming that we deal with the settlement matter this morning, we will do that.


Any other preliminary matters, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Not from me, Madam Chair, no. 


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  No.  Well, with that, maybe, Mr. Cass, you can go ahead and present the settlement proposal.


PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL BY MR CASS:

MR. CASS:  If I might start with a matter of clarification to ensure that everyone is looking at the same document.  The settlement proposal was first filed, I believe, if I've got my dates correct, on Friday, August 5th.  There was then some further work on the settlement proposal and an additional version of the document was filed, I think, on Wednesday, August 10th.


The version then that I will be working with is the final version filed on August 10th, 2005.


As the Board will have seen from the preamble to this document, there was a group of issues that was settled as a package.  These are identified at page 10.  They also are identified individually as one goes through the issues in the settlement proposal.


I won't read them out, but the language regarding the package settlement is the concluding paragraph on page 10 of the document.  There are other issues that were settled that are not part of that package, as the Board will have seen.


So with that small amount of preliminary explanation, I will then turn to the settled issues in the settlement proposal.  I'm not sure how much detail the Board requires, so if I am taking more time than the Board thinks is necessary, please don't hesitate to speed me up.  I will go through each of the settled issues, but it may be that the Board doesn't need explanation on every one, so I would be happy to speed up, if that's appropriate.  


The first group of settled issues is the gas volume and revenue forecast series of issues that are all part of issue 1.  As the Board will have seen under issue 1.1, which is the gas volume budget, there was a complete settlement reached, which is part of the package.  The Board will see the reference here to the different evidence on gas supply agreed dates that the parties relied upon in coming to a settlement both of the number of gas supplied, degree days and the gas volume budget.


And more or less as a companion to that settlement on 1.1, the parties also were able to settle issues 1.2 and 1.3, which are respectively the average uses for rate class 1 and the average uses for rate class 6.  


As well, given the settlement of issue 1.1, then issue 1.4 more or less fell away for the purposes of this proceeding and, as indicated in the settlement proposal, does not need to be addressed.  This was the proposal to change to the company's proposed degree day forecasting methodology.  Given the settlement of issue 1.1, the parties perceive no need to address that in this proceeding.  


So that is the group of issues, all falling under issue 1.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Moving then to issue 2, which is other revenue, the Board will have seen that this also is a complete settlement and part of the package.  The parties agreed on forecast revenue from other services in the amount of $10,650,000.  I won't read the explanation that follows that, other than to point out that, as indicated in the concluding sentence under issue 2.1, several parties' agreement on this issue is inseparably linked to the settlement of issue 18.2.  Issue 18.2 deals with the direct purchase administration charge and system gas fees.  And there obviously is a linkage there between other service revenue, the complete settlement that has been reached on that issue and also the DPAC and system gas fees issue. 


Moving on to the issues under issue 3, transactional services, there was no settlement on transactional services, but one aspect of this group of issues has been resolved, and that is issue 3.3.  Issue 3.3, as the Board will have seen, concerned agreements with Enbridge Gas Services and Enbridge Operational Services in relation to the provision of transactional services, to the extent not dealt with in EB-2005-0244.  That case, of course, EB-2005-0244, was the separate transactional services proceeding that the Board has recently issued its order in respect of.  

     Given the Board's final order in that proceeding, parties are in agreement that issue 3.3 in this proceeding has been resolved, with the qualifying words that are added here.  And none of the O&M issues in this case have been settled, so the qualifying words here in relation to issue 9.18 simply point out that there is no settlement in relation to O&M affiliate transactions and non-utility elimination as an issue in this case.  

     Subject to that qualification, issue 3.3 does not need to be addressed in this case.  

     The next series of issues under issue 4 relate to the class action suit deferral account.  There are two aspects to this.  Under issue 4.1, we have the 2005 class action suit deferral account and an issue pertaining to recovery of amounts recorded in that account.  Under issue 4.2 is the request to establish a 2006 class action suit deferral account.  

     These issues have been resolved by the parties.  Most of the explanation is given under issue 4.2 -- 4.1, I'm sorry, and the two issues cross-reference within the settlement proposal.  

     The parties have agreed that, under issue 4.1, the Board's determination should await further information from the Court’s determination of amounts payable.  On that basis, the parties agreed that it was appropriate for all amounts recorded in the 2005 deferral account to be transferred to a 2006 deferral account in which further amounts attributable to the litigation and the judgment, if any, will be recorded.  

     Now, the one wrinkle in respect of this issue is set out in the settlement proposal.  As the Board is aware, section 36, subsection 4.2, of the governing legislation has a 12-month time period in respect of non-gas-commodity-related deferral or variance accounts.  The parties consider that, with the Board's agreement and determination in this case -- that the amounts in the 2005 class action suit deferral account be transferred to the 2006 deferral account, that that would be compliant with the legislation.  As indicated in the concluding sentence, if the Board does not share that view, then the issue of responsibility would need to be determined in this hearing.  

     Then, with that explanation, I don't think I need to read out any of the wording of issue 4.2, as I mentioned.  It is cross-referenced back to issue 4.1, and I think the Board will see that the resolution of these two issues ties in with each other.  

     The next settled issues are found under issue 7 dealing with cost of capital.  I won't read out the details of the precise rates that have been agreed upon, but they're in the settlement proposal.  The point to be made is that the parties have reached a complete settlement on the cost of short-term debt, the cost of medium- and long-term debt.  The parties attached, at appendix A to the settlement proposal, data from the Canadian chartered banks that form the basis for the resolution of issue 7.1.  

     Issue 7.2, of course, is determination of calendar ROE for the test year.  There is a complete settlement of this.  Again, without reading the words of the settlement proposal, I think it's fair to say that the settlement is that the ROE will be calculated in accordance with the Board's guidelines.  The parties have set out the steps that they -- that would be followed in order for that calculation to occur in accordance with the guidelines.  The missing information is the October 2005 consensus forecasts that would be used for the purpose of the final ROE calculation.  So, essentially, what would happen is that the same steps would be followed, but the October 2005 consensus forecast information would be plugged in to make the final determination.  

     Then, finally, on issue 7.3, there is also a complete settlement because, in this case, the intervenors will not take issue with the standby credit fees that are the subject of this issue.  As a result, there is a complete settlement on all aspects of issue 7.  

     The next area in respect of which a settlement has been reached - although in this case it’s only a partial settlement - is issue 10, dealing with natural gas vehicles.  

     There is a partial settlement among all parties, except for Schools, in which it’s been agreed there will be an imputation of revenue to the NGV program for the test year.  Schools has agreed with the corresponding reduction in the revenue requirement, but not with the imputation.  And that the Board will see under issue 10.1.  

     Just quickly touching on issue 11, this is not a settled issue so I don't propose to discuss it, other than to point out that the Board has been provided with scoping language by the parties.  I think that this is one of perhaps three instances where, although an issue has not been settled, the parties have endeavoured to assist the Board by scoping the issue for the Board's consideration in this hearing.  

     The next settled issue is issue 14, dealing with taxes.  As the Board will have seen under issue 14.1, the parties agreed on forecast municipal property taxes for the test year, on the basis of a reduction from the company's forecast in the amount of $1.6 million.  Intervenors don't take issue, in this case, with the other taxes that are an element of issue 14.1, meaning that, in this case, there is a complete settlement on that issue.  

     Demand-side management is issue 15, and, generally, it is not settled.  But there is one exception to that.  Issue 15.6 is one in respect of which there is a complete settlement.  As the Board will have seen, the parties have agreed on clearance of the 2002 SSM and the 2002 LRAM in the amounts set out in the settlement proposal, as recommended by the audit subcommittee.  With respect to the 2003 SSM and 2003 LRAM, the parties have agreed that disposition be deferred until after review and recommendations of the audit subcommittee and the DSM consultative.  The remainder of the DSM issues are not resolved. 

This brings me to issue 16, the deferral and variance accounts, which is perhaps the only area of this settlement proposal that becomes a little complicated to explain.  There is a complete settlement on issue 16.1, but there are exceptions, and the same can be said for issue 16.2.  There is a complete settlement, but there are some exceptions.


Issue 16.1 deals with amounts and proposed disposition of historic deferral in variance accounts.  A summary of these accounts was provided in the evidence, and the reference for that is provided in the settlement proposal under issue 16.1.  An update of the balances was provided in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 143, but the parties have agreed, subject to the exceptions ‑ and the Board will see this towards the bottom of page 29 ‑ is that the company will clear the actual principal balances as of September 30th of this year in the accounts listed above, this paragraph on page 29, plus interest commencing January 1st of 2006.


Now, in the event that there is a variation of more than $100,000 from the amount set forth for an account in Appendix B, the company will provide an explanation to the Board and to intervenors no later than November 15th, 2005.  So Appendix B, then, is the list of the accounts that are the subject of this settlement and the company's current expectation of the balances in those accounts.  


Again, if there is a variation greater than $100,000 from amounts in Appendix B, then the company will follow what is set out in the settlement proposal.


Before I come to the exceptions, excuse me, the settlement proposal also sets out some specific language in respect of a number of deferral and variance accounts.  This is on page 30.  I won't touch on each paragraph, because some of them are actually just confirming things that are said elsewhere in the settlement proposal, and I don't think I need to repeat that.  



However, just to point out some of the highlights of the specific accounts dealt with on page 30, I have already talked about the settlement of 2003 SSM VA and 2003 LRAM under issue 15.6.  The company ‑‑ the parties have agreed that the company will provide post audit amounts and request disposition if this becomes available during the hearing of this case.  As set out in issue 15.7, though, there is no settlement with respect to amounts in the 2002 and 2003 DSM variance accounts.  


Skipping down just to touch on a couple of others, with respect to the 2005 gas distribution access rule costs deferral account, the parties agreed that this be deferred until the Board has had an opportunity to provide guidance with respect to the allocation of such costs.  


Skipping down a couple of more paragraphs, there is a reference to 2005 notional utility account, deferral account.  This is one of the ones that is dealt with elsewhere, and I will come to that when I address issue 16.3 and I won't say more about it now, in order to avoid being repetitive.


Then, finally, as we saw in relation to the class action suits deferral account, class action suit deferral account, the parties consider that their settlement is compliant with section 36(4.2) of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  If the Board for any reason were to consider this not to be the case, then in respect of any such account there would be a need for determination at this hearing.


The exceptions that I've referred to that this settlement of issue 16.1 does not extend to are then set out.  There are three of them.  The first is the 2005 Ontario hearings cost variance account.  Without reading the wording specifically, there is an issue here about treatment of costs, appeal costs and rehearing costs, in relation to the Alliance-Vector proceeding.  That is something that has not been resolved.


 In respect of the 2005 late payment penalty -‑ I'm trying to remember what the "R" stands for.  Revision deferral account, thank you.  Mr. Millar, I think, issued an e‑mail towards the end of last week with respect to this.  


Essentially what had happened was the company had applied separately for an accounting order to set up this account.  In the event that the account was set up, the company had applied in this case for disposition of the amounts recorded in it.  Mr. Millar in his e‑mail had proposed that those two issues be joined and heard together in this proceeding.  I think he invited parties to let the Board know if there was any objection.  


I'm not aware of any objection, but then it was not my e‑mail.  But that's the status of that account at this point, as far as I know it.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  If I may, Mr. Cass, I haven't received any feedback at all on that proposal.  I thought ‑‑ I didn't think it would be controversial, so I would invite any parties that have a comment on that to make it.  But, otherwise, I'm ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps we will deal with that issue first thing this afternoon as we set the schedule for the remainder of the hearing.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Then in respect of the 2005 transactional services deferral account, the intervenors are waiting for information from the company relating to entries made in respect of any transaction unwinding costs. 


Rather than get into a lengthy explanation of unwinding costs, the Board may remember, from the settlement of the transactional services proceeding, that this was part of the settlement that the company was going to be providing information about the so-called unwinding costs in the event that firm transactional services transactions need to be unwound.


As I have already mentioned, issue 16.2 is also a complete settlement, but also with some exceptions.  The accounts, variance accounts and deferral accounts, that the parties have agreed should be established for 2006 are set out under issue 16.2.  I won't read them all out.  I'm sure the Board has had an opportunity to read them.  


There is a cross‑reference to issue 4.2 in respect of the 2006 class action suit deferral account, and then, also, I should just point out that although the company has requested establishment of the three listed demand side management accounts, the mechanics of these accounts have yet to be addressed at the hearing, in light of the fact that DSM issues have not been settled.


Now, the exceptions to issue 16.2 are set out on page 32 of the settlement proposal.  These are accounts which the company proposes to establish for the 2006 test year, but in respect of which there is no agreement that the accounts should be set up.  These are the customer communication plan deferral account for 2006 and the corporate cost allocation methodology deferral account for 2006.  So these are accounts that are in issue for the purposes of the hearing.  


And, of course, given that transactional services was not settled, again with the one small exception of issue 3.3, the transactional services deferral account will also be an issue for the hearing.


This then brings me to issue 16.3.  I alluded to this earlier, and said that I would provide a little more detail when I came to the issue in the settlement proposal.  The Board will recall that a notional utility account was established a number of years ago, and, in the company's fiscal 2005 rate case, the Board made a decision regarding what should happen with amounts in that account.  The parties have agreed that, rather than continuing to recover rates in the 2006 and 2007 test years through a notional-utility-account deferral account, that, instead, the amounts ought to be amortized -- the amounts to be payable by ratepayers in 2005, 2006 and 2007 ought to be amortized and recovered in rates.  This issue 16.3, then, reflects that settlement and, in light of that settlement, the company has withdrawn the request for the 2006 notional-utility-account deferral account.  

     This, then, brings me to issue 17, which is cost-allocation issues, and if I might add in, also, issue 18, which follows and deals with rate design.  The reason I've done that is because issues 17.1 - that's 2006 cost allocation - 17.2 - that's changes in revenue-to-cost ratios - and 18.1 - proposal for changes to the rate handbook - are all a complete settlement on the same basis.  The basis is that, subject to issue 18.2, below - I've referred to that already, that's the DPAC and system gas fees - intervenors are not taking any issue with the three issues that I've listed, 17.1, 17.2 and 18.1.  

     I will come to 18.2 at this point, then, which I've referred to a few times now, the DPAC and system gas fees.  At the risk of paraphrasing, the agreement -- the complete settlement of issue 18.2 is, essentially, to maintain the status quo for the test year.  So the company has agreed to maintain the structure, level and administration of the fee and the charge, as well as the Board-approved cost allocated to the fee and the charge, on the understanding that the Board is to be examining the costing of these fees in the generic hearing that flows out of the Natural Gas Forum.  I didn't bring my Natural Gas Forum report with me, so I can't give you the reference, but I believe that that is a specific indication in that report, that the Board will be going on in the generic hearing to look at that issue.  

     Issue 18.3 is not settled, but issues 18.4 and 18.5 are both a complete settlement, again, on the basis that, in this proceeding, the intervenors have no issue with the company's evidence: 18.4 is the 2006 revenue deficiency allocation; 18.5 is review of rate impacts.  Both of these are a complete settlement on the basis that I've described.  

     This, then, brings me to issue 19, which is rate implementation.  And, again, 19.1 and 19.2 are a complete settlement on the same basis, that intervenors don't have an issue with the company's evidence in this proceeding.  So the year two phase-in of the upstream cost-allocation changes from the fiscal 2005 case is a complete settlement.  The implementation of any other rate design changes is a complete settlement.  

     The last issue is 19.3, timing of implementation of 2006 rates.  There is no agreement to settle, but, again, in order to assist the Board, intervenors have provided scoping language for the issue that remains unresolved.  

     And that, I think, completes my presentation of the settlement proposal, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

     Do any of the parties have any comments?

     Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have comments on one issue.  There is a partial settlement on issue 10.1, natural gas vehicles, and I want to explain what it is -- what School's position is on that, and why it’s partially settled.  

     We are opposed to imputation of revenue, as you can see from the settlement.  But the natural gas vehicle issue was part of a package.  And so, rather than refuse to settle that issue and, therefore, have the whole package fall down, we agreed that, while we wouldn't agree to the imputation of revenue for NGV, we would agree that, if we lost on that issue, the company could find that 559,000 somewhere else so that the package would hang together.   And that's our explanation of that issue.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Any other comments?  

     Mr. Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  If I may, Madam Chair.  Just -- if I could raise a -- I guess, more of a comment or a question for Mr. Cass.  Regarding issue 16.1 and 16.2, I guess it’s somewhat unusual to have -- well, we're calling it a “complete settlement”, and yet, at the same time, have exceptions to the complete settlement.  Just for the purposes of clarification, am I right in assuming that the company will be calling evidence on these outstanding -- the exceptions to the settlement? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, to the extent that it’s necessary.  I couldn't predict whether parties might feel it’s -- that any or all of them are ones that could simply be argued -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MR. CASS:  -- but, yes, to the extent that evidence is necessary, it will be called. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So these are still -- I guess they're live sub-issues to the greater, settled issue. 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, they are.  They are live issues.     

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much. 

     The Panel did have a chance to review the settlement agreement before today's proceeding.  And, based on Mr. Cass's comments, and the comments by Mr. Shepherd, and no further comments by others, we are - we will accept the settlement agreement as presented, and we will go forward this afternoon with the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  

     On that basis, we will adjourn until 1 o'clock this afternoon.  

     --- Break taken at 10:10 a.m.      


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Welcome back.  This afternoon we begin the evidentiary portion of the hearing of application EB‑2005‑0001 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The Panel was introduced this morning and we got most of the appearances this morning, but I do see a couple of new faces this afternoon.  So are there any appearances that people would like noted before we proceed?


FURTHER APPEARANCES: 


MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki with Ontario Energy Savings Corp. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Ruzycki.


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams with Energy Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, Dennis O'Leary, Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Before I ask for preliminary matters this morning ‑‑ this afternoon, rather, the Panel would like to give some direction on the schedule for this proceeding.


As you are aware, there are many issues to be heard in this proceeding.  The schedule could be so lengthy as to make it impossible to render a decision for a rate implementation of January 1st, 2006.  The Panel expects the applicants to combine witness panels and issues whenever possible and to focus on the most material aspects of the case.  This particularly applies to hearing issues on the O&M budget.  The Panel expects intervenors to collaborate and eliminate redundant questioning and arguments, and the Board for its part will do everything we can to facilitate the schedule, while ensuring that the issues receive a full hearing.


We anticipate that a normal hearing day for this proceeding will be from 9:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m.  We will go later if it seems appropriate, but that will be our normal schedule.  That said, today we need to finish no later than 3:45, and this Wednesday, August 17th and next Wednesday, August 25th we will not convene until 1:00 p.m.  


That completes our opening remarks unless anyone has any comments on those scheduling items.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, Elizabeth DeMarco with a variety of intervenors who intend to participate surgically in this proceeding, if possible.  So to the extent that an ongoing or updated schedule of panels is feasible, we would certainly appreciate it and it would enhance the efficiency of our participation and the Board's efficiency in hearing us, as well.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Ms. DeMarco.  Maybe we could get Mr. Cass to comment on that in a minute or so when we get the schedule.


Mr. Millar, you had a preliminary matter about the deferral account.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  There was the issue that Mr. Cass touched on this morning and you indicated you would prefer to hear it at the beginning of the session this afternoon.  That relates to issue 5.1 from the issues list and Board file EB‑2005‑0437.  


As the parties are aware, I sent out an e‑mail on Friday indicating that it might be appropriate to combine these issues.  This deals with the creation and the disposition of deferral account to capture monies spent to make the switch from the 2 percent one-time penalty to the 1.5 percent monthly interest penalty on late payments.


I sent out that e‑mail, as I mentioned, on Friday.  I haven't received any comments from anyone except from Enbridge, I believe, who is in support of combining these issues.  It seems that we're really talking about the same thing here, and, in the interests of efficiency, it would be prudent to combine these two.  The Board does have the power to combine issues under section 9.1 of the SPPA and section 21.5 of the OEB Act.  


So I would be interested in hearing any comments from the other parties, but it would be Board Staff's submission that these issues should be joined.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Cass, any comment?


MR. CASS:  No.  I agree with what Mr. Millar has said and I don't have anything to add.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anyone else have any comments on combining these applications?  No?  Well, that said, then we will accept the proposal that EGDI's application for 2005 deferral account for costs associated with the late payment penalty changes will be considered as part of the hearing of issue 5.1 in this proceeding.


Mr. Cass, do you have any preliminary matters?


MR. CASS:  I had just one small preliminary matter, Madam Chair.  I was asked to make the request that if Enbridge were to place a tray in the room, and I'm not just sure where that would go, that when intervenors have any filings or documents that they're handing out, if they could just make sure that they have one extra copy to deposit in the tray to enable Enbridge to be sure that it keeps a complete set of all the handouts that do go around in the hearing room.


MS. NOWINA:  That seems reasonable.  I'm sure we'll find a spot, maybe at the back there.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, were you going to address the schedule in this proceeding?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I was just getting some instructions on that.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. CASS:  The company has issued to intervenors, I believe, its outlook for the schedule, I believe for the ‑‑ for this week and next week.  The difficulty, I think everyone will appreciate, that the company faces in setting a schedule is that much of the length of each witness panel is determined by the amount of cross‑examination.  The company is not in a position to know the length of cross‑examination for the panels.


An e‑mail, I think, was sent out by the company to intervenors enquiring specifically about many of the panels, particularly on O&M, as to the extent to which intervenors might be prepared even to go directly to argument as opposed to needing any cross‑examination at all.


So the company is doing its best to schedule the issues on a forward basis so that people will know what's coming up and can be prepared, but there is a difficulty, without a little more feedback, if possible, as to the extent to which intervenors do expect to cross-examine panels, and even some indication of length, to enable the company to come up with a realistic schedule beyond what is already issued for this week and next week.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, perhaps I can ask Mr. Millar to assist you and encourage all the intervenors to work with you so we can get a reasonable schedule together.  Yes.  Comments from anybody else?  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the intervenors have convened a meeting for after today's session, and the subject will be who is going to lead on which panel and how much time we're going to take and who else is going to participate.  We're hopeful we're going to be able to provide Mr. Cass with more detailed information shortly.


MS. NOWINA:  Excellent.  So we can discuss schedule more tomorrow, then.  That's fine.


MR. CASS:  The other point, Madam Chair, I was wondering about, and this is really the nature of an enquiry of the Board, I believe that in the past parties have found it helpful when the Board has been able to have some sort of a hotline that they can check into, if they're not here on a daily basis.  I don't know whether that is something that's possible in this case, or not.


MS. NOWINA:  Let us take that under consideration and maybe get back to you after the break today, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there preliminary matters from anyone else before we go forward?  Mr. Cass, do you want to start with your first panel.


MR. CASS:  Mr. O'Leary will do that, Madam Chair, and with the Board's permission, I will leave that to him and depart for today.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 1:

Dave Charleson; Sworn.   

     Don Small; Sworn.   

     EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps you could get the panel members to state their full names and spell them for the court reporter. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps, Mr. Small, could you state your name and spell it for the reporter. 

     MR. SMALL:  Don Small.  D-o-n. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  It's going to be a long hearing, Madam Chair.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm Dave Charleson, D-a-v-e and C-h-a-r-l-e-s-o-n.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, this panel is actually going to be dealing with two issues.  The first -- and we propose that they be dealt with separately, and the first will be gas cost transportation and storage.  And, after that’s concluded, we propose to move into transactional services.  

     So, first, we're starting with issue 6.1, which is the evidence that the company has filed at Exhibit A3, tab 2, schedule 1.  

     And if I may first turn to you, Mr. Small, can you tell me whether the evidence and the interrogatories that the company responded to in respect of this issue was prepared by you, or under your direction. 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, they were. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And, Mr. Charleson, may I ask you the same question: Was the evidence that the company has filed and the responses to interrogatories prepared by you, or under your direction? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     I have very brief examination in-chief, if I may, Madam Chair.  

     First, Mr. Small, can you tell me what your roles and responsibilities are in respect of gas cost transportation and storage with the company.  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  I'm the manager of the Gas Cost Knowledge Centre, and my primary responsibilities are preparation of the company's gas cost budget that gets filed before the OEB.  I also oversee the verification and approval of the various gas supply, commodity, transportation, storage and risk-management invoices.  I also oversee the amounts that are being booked to gas costs for purposes of the company's financial statements.  I also oversee amounts going into the gas pipe deferral accounts, such as the PVA.  And I also participate in the preparation of the QRAM filing.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Charles, may I ask you the same question? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Sure.  I am the Director of Energy Policy and Analysis, and as part of my responsibilities, I am responsible for ensuring that there is adequate gas supply to meet demand on a daily basis, and also for the long-term, which includes contracting for transportation and storage capacity.  I also have responsibility for the service agreements that the company has for supply acquisitions, both with Enbridge Gas Services and Enbridge Operational Services.  And then I also responsibility for short- and long-term supply planning, including planning for transportation capacity and storage needs.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  

     The company has indicated that - I believe it is Interrogatory Number 26, posed by VECC - that there might be an update in respect of its evidence in the -- in respect of peak-day deficiency.  Do you have an update in respect of that? 

     MR. SMALL:  We do not at this time.  Traditionally, we would hope that we would be able to come forward with an update to that peak-day supply mix, but at this point in time we haven't finalized our arrangements for our peak-day requirements for 2006, at this time.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And, ultimately, when that has been completed, how will that be accounted for? 

     MR. SMALL:  As part of the preparation of the 2006 gas cost budget, we do have a forecast of what our peaking requirements are, and for those supplies that we have yet entered into arrangements we still have forecasts of costs.  So, to the extent that that varies from -- our actual peaking requirements vary from that, it would be captured as part of the purchased-gas variance account. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you very much.  I understand -- well, let me ask you this.  Are there any changes to any of the interrogatory responses which have been filed? 

     MR. SMALL:  We’d like to make one change, and that’s to a response to a TCPL interrogatory.  It's Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3.  In the original exhibit that was filed, there was -- we listed out the expiry dates of the various transportation contracts.  And for the Vector three contract, we identified the expiry date as October 31, 2005.  And in actual fact, that contract expires -- October 31, 2010.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Small, do you have actually a copy of that IR response?  For -- I thought we could just identify which line item we're referring to.  

     MR. SMALL:  Sorry.  As I mentioned it was Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, and it's line item 6.15.  And at the far right of that column, it identifies the expiry date.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And if I understood you correctly, the interrogatory originally, as filed, indicated an expiry date of 2005, and the correct date is 

-- 

     MR. SMALL:  2010.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Can you advise me whether there have been any changes in the methodology that the company uses to forecast gas costs, transportation, gas storage costs, for the 2006 calendar year, relative to 2005. 

     MR. SMALL:  No, there have not.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  At paragraph 5 to 7 of the pre-filed evidence, the company indicates that it is forecasting storage rates based on Union's rates in effect January 1st, 2004.  In response to VECC Interrogatory Number 24, the company confirmed that this rate is a cost-based rate for M12 storage.  Why did the company decide to include cost-based storage rates in its forecast? 

     MR. SMALL:  I guess there is really two reasons.  At the time that we were preparing the evidence, it was prior to the Natural Gas Forum coming out, so we were unsure as to what was going to happen in that Natural Gas Forum.  But we also felt that it was prudent on our part to assume continuation of costs of service, because we didn't want to preclude ourselves from putting in an estimate of what potential market-based prices would be, and tipping our hand, if you will.  

     And just -- if I could just add one piece of information.  If you were to look at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 2, items 1.2 and 1.3 of that Exhibit identify the forecasted Union storage costs that we're assuming for the 2006 budget.  And you will see, by that Exhibit, in column 1, that those two amounts add up to $6.7 million.  So, to put it in perspective, on our forecasted gas costs of $1.9 billion, it's less than one percent of those costs.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, that concludes our evidence in chief.  The panel is now ready and available for

cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Have the intervenors discussed in what sequence they would like to do this cross-examination? 

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I think the consensus is that Mr. Ross, my friend, will have the lion's share of cross-examination, but he has been courteous enough to allow me to proceed him briefly, because I have another obligation this afternoon.   

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, just as a follow-up to a portion of your examination in-chief, you indicated that there was a change to one of the interrogatories posed by TransCanada PipeLines.  Just for completion purposes, could you turn up the TCPL Interrogatory Number 8, which is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 8.  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, we have it.    

     MR. WARREN:  In the preamble portion, at Roman numeral four, it reads, at line 6.15, EGDI shows that one transportation contract with Vector Pipeline expires on October 31, 2005.  I take it, in light of what you've just told us that that should be amended to read 2010; is that correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Panel, I intend to deal only with the transportation issue, and then only at a high level of generality, or policy, if you wish.  

     Mr. Charleson, may I assume, from the pre-filed evidence, that the costs of the existing transportation contracts will be embedded in rates for 2006; is that correct?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, my friend, Mr. Ross, will deal with this in greater detail, as it is his interrogatory, but if you would turn up, please, the response to the TCPL Interrogatory Number 3, which, for the record, is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3.  And, also, in that context, the Interrogatory I've just referred to, which is Number 8, which, for the record, is Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 8.  

    As I understand it, looking at those two interrogatory responses, there are a number of contracts that will expire during the currency of the 2006 rate year; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. WARREN:  And do I understand your position in this case is that, with respect to those contracts, any changes that might arise in the transportation costs will be captured in the PGVA; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And having been captured in the PGVA, the proposal will be to clear them in, I presume, the next main rate case; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  That would be correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect ‑‑


MR. SMALL:  Sorry, could I just -- subject to potential clearance we have riders, but ultimately there would be a one-time adjustment in January of 2007.


MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect to those individual contracts that will be coming up for renewal in 2006, the reasonableness of those contracts or the prudence of those contracts would be considered, when?


MR. CHARLESON:  Well, the decisions around the renewals for those contracts would occur as we prepare for the renewal time frame.  I suppose from a regulatory perspective, in terms of the opportunity to, say, judge the actions that we end up taking regarding those renewals could be done in conjunction with the final clearing of the PGBA for 2006.


MR. WARREN:  Can we agree, Mr. Charleson, that that would be after the fact?  In other words, the contracts would have been signed.  You would have -- Enbridge would have entered into binding contractual obligations, and then regulatory scrutiny of those contracts would take place after that; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.  That's a risk that we face as we move forward with renewing our contracts, similar to all of the TransCanada contract renewals that we did this year.  We know that the decisions that we make around those renewals are subject to regulatory scrutiny and that we do need to be in a position to be able to demonstrate to the Board that those decisions made around those contracts were prudent.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Small, I believe it was, in his examination in‑chief made reference to the natural gas forum report.


And you would be familiar, I presume, panel, with the natural gas forum report's comments on long‑term upstream transportation contracts; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I'm very familiar with it.


MR. WARREN:  And, indeed, in some the interrogatory responses that you have provided, you refer to it.


I'm going to refer, panel, to the specific discussion of this issue, which appears at page 72 of the natural gas forum report.


And, panel, the Board's recommendation ‑‑ let me be precise in how I characterize that.  The Board's statement which appears at the bottom of page 72 is that, and I quote: 

"Board believes that there is a role for utilities in long‑term upstream transportation contracting, subject to a prudence review."


Do you see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  And then the Board goes on, on page 73, to say: 

"Given the importance of security of supply and to provide freighter clarity in the marketplace, the Board will offer utilities the opportunity to apply for pre-approval of long‑term supply and/or transportation contracts.  The Board will consult on the development of guidelines that will inform all stakeholders of the principles and issues the Board will consider when evaluating an application for contract pre-approval."


Do you see that, panel?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Then following that, the Board sets out five bullet items of matters that might be included in those guidelines.


Do I take it, panel, from your interrogatory responses, that Enbridge has no objection, in principle, to pre-approval of its long‑term transportation contracts?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I think pre-approval of long‑term transportation contracts is something that Enbridge was very interested in through the course of the natural gas forum, and the opportunity to apply for pre-approval on such long‑term agreements is something that we see as a very positive step.


MR. WARREN:  Now, does Enbridge distinguish, panel, between pre-approval of long‑term transportation contracts and the prudence review that the Board refers to on page 72 of the Natural Gas Forum report?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I would see the two as being the same, that for the Board to provide pre-approval it would need to conduct some form of prudence review.


MR. WARREN:  And is it your anticipation that the Board might conduct such a pre-approval or prudence process for the contracts which come up for renewal during the period of the 2006 rate year?


MR. CHARLESON:  I think I would like to distinguish between what we see as being, say, the types of contracts being contemplated by the pre-approval process and some of the renewals that we may do during the course of the coming year.


Typically, the renewal ‑‑ the renewal of such arrangements can be done on an annual basis, the best example being all of our TransCanada transportation contracts.  We're able to renew annually, and we wouldn't see ‑‑ we wouldn't consider those to be long‑term transportation contracts.


What we see the prior approval process being available for is where there are ‑‑ where there may be a long-term commitment required because of either, say, a major system expansion or the development of a new pipeline to attach new capacity to the market.  It's our understanding that that is more the type of contract that the Board is contemplating using the pre-approval process for, and that the annual renewal of, say, existing transportation capacity is something that isn't necessarily dealt with through such a pre-approval process.


MR. WARREN:  Is there any reason, as a practical matter, Mr. Charleson, where -- as a practical matter, is there any reason why the Board could not approve the -- or pre-approve the contracts that come up for renewal in 2006?  Could that be done?


MR. CHARLESON:  It could be done.  However, I guess our concern would be the volume of filings that the Board may have to deal with if it's now having to deal with all the individual contract renewals that come up.  You know, if we look at, say, five or ten, say, TransCanada contracts that we have, if we look at -- you know, there's a number of other contracts that are listed here.  If we were to look to bring forward each of those for pre-approval, my concern would be that the Board would become burdened by a large number of applications for such pre-approvals.


MR. WARREN:  Would you turn up, please, finally, in this context, the TCPL Interrogatory No. 8, which is Exhibit "I", tab 23, schedule 8.


MR. SMALL:  I have that.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the question to which you provided a response asked for information about the contracts that you intended to renew, extend or replace.  And the second part, item 2 of the response, reads as follows:

"As TransCanada is a competitor to the parties that provide the services under the contracts in question, the company believes it is inappropriate to reveal its strategies and expectations regarding those contract renewals beyond the information provided in response to part 1.  This would diminish the company's ability to acquire transportation services at the best possible value and would not be in the best interest of ratepayers."


I read that answer, sir, as explicitly premised on your concern about TCPL's position as a competitor in the transportation market.  Is that a fair reading of it?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yeah, that is a fair reading, that we do have a concern, in terms of, you know, TransCanada's interest on this matter specifically.  Is it motivated in terms of the cost to ratepayers or them understanding what type of competition they may face in terms of pipeline renewals?


MR. WARREN:  Let me notionally exclude TCPL from the process.  If the Board were interested in getting this information and other intervenors, for example, the client that I represent, were interested in getting this information, would Enbridge have any objection to providing the information on terms that would preclude its being provided to commercial competitors? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, I don't believe we would have a concern that way.  

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you very much.

     And thank you, to Mr. Ross. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren. 

     Mr. Ross?  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSS:

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     Thank you, Members of the Board.

     Thank you, panelists. 

     I would like to begin by addressing the issue of upstream gas supply arrangements Enbridge makes on behalf of its system-supply customers.  And if I could ask you, firstly, to turn up Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, on page 2, where you show your various supply and transportation agreements.  I’ll give you a moment to turn those up.  

     I’d also like to refer you to two aids to cross-examination, which were provided earlier to your counsel.  One is entitled “Pipeline Infrastructure Serving Ontario”, and the other is entitled "ANR-MichCon-Link Supply Path".   And subject to any concerns my learned colleague, Mr. O'Leary, may have I’d like to introduce both of those as an exhibit to assist the Board.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We have no objection.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

     Could we get an exhibit number, Mr. Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  It will be Exhibit K1.1.  

Could we have the titles of that again?

     MR. ROSS: Absolutely.  The first is a map entitled “Pipeline Infrastructure Serving Ontario.”  And the second is another map entitled “ANR-MichCon-Link Supply Path.”  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that would be K1.1 and K1.2.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.            

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAP ENTITLED “PIPELINE INFRASTRUCTURE SERVING ONTARIO”

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MAP ENTITLED “ANR-MICHCON-LINK SUPPLY PATH”  

     MR. ROSS:  I will give you a moment to turn those up.  

     MS. NOWINA:  The panel only has one.  Is there a second? 

     MR. ROSS:  I'm sorry. 

     MS. NOWINA:  The panel only has one of those maps.  

     MR. ROSS: And if you -- do you have those in front of you?

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do.   

    MR. ROSS:  If I could ask you, in particular, to review the portion of Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, page 2, under the section “Deliveries via TCPL.”  Do you see that? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. ROSS: And can we agree that this indicates numerically that Enbridge purchases gas in western Canada and transports it into Ontario via TransCanada PipeLines?  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to now refer you to the map entitled “Pipeline Infrastructure Serving Ontario”, which is the main map I would like to work with you now.  

     And would you agree, on that map, that deliveries of gas from western Canada - from the western Canadian supply area via TransCanada pipeline to Ontario are shown, pictorially, as the dark blue line extending from Alberta into Ontario? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I'm sometimes not the best at colours, but I would agree it looks dark blue.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  And would you further confirm that these volumes from Alberta are delivered via TransCanada pipelines to the eastern delivery area, often referred to as EDA, and to the central delivery area, often referred to as CDA?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can we further agree that Enbridge's franchise area is contained within the EDA and CDA? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we can.  

     MR. ROSS:  And moving to a second supply source, the second supply source that you indicate on Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, is a supply source originating in western Canada and transported via Alliance and through Vector to Dawn.  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And the volumes of this source are shown numerically on Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, as “Deliveries via Alliance-Vector, Tranche 1.”  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. ROSS: And can we confirm that these volumes are delivered in southwestern Ontario at or near Dawn? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.   

     MR. ROSS:  And, with respect to the map in front of you, entitled “Pipeline Infrastructure Serving Ontario”, the Alliance-Vector tranche-one deliveries of gas from western Canada via TransCanada pipelines are depicted by the orange path extending from Alberta to Chicago, representing the Alliance path, and then the red path from Chicago to Dawn, representing Vector.       

MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, the reason for the confusion, I think you mentioned TransCanada Pipelines somewhere in your -- 

     MR. ROSS:  I'm sorry, I misspoke.  Deliveries of gas from western Canada being depicted by the orange path extending from Alberta to Chicago, representing the Alliance path, and then the red path from Chicago to Dawn, representing Vector.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And the third supply source you indicate at exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, is the purchasing of gas in Chicago and moving it through Vector to Dawn.  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And the volumes of this source are shown numerically on Exhibit 1, Tab 23, Schedule 2, as “Deliveries via Alliance-Vector, Tranches 2 and 3.”  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And could you confirm that those volumes are delivered in southwestern Ontario at or near Dawn? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they are delivered to Dawn. 

     MR. ROSS:  And can we further agree that, with respect to the map we've been discussing, deliveries via Alliance-Vector, tranches 2 and 3, are shown on the map as the red path. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And the further supply source you indicate at Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, is reflected in volumes shown numerically as “Deliveries via ANR-MichCon-Link Pipeline.”  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That’s correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can you confirm that those volumes are delivered in southwestern Ontario at or near Dawn?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. ROSS:  And with respect to the map entitled “Pipeline Infrastructure Serving Ontario”, can we agree that the supply route is shown from the ANR supply areas via ANR on the map in green?     

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  Through MichCon, as shown on the map in yellow, or gold.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And then the ANR-Link Pipeline to Dawn, which may be easier to identify on the second map, entitled “ANR-MichCon-Link Supply Path.”  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  At the same Exhibit in front of you, Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, at item number 5.2, you refer to Ontario delivered supplies.  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. ROSS:  Can you explain to us what this refers to?  

     MR. SMALL:  That would be the amount that we were forecasting, in our 2006 gas-cost budget, that we would buy directly at the Dawn delivery point.  So there would be additional supplies that would -- we would either need on a seasonal basis to supplement our pipeline supplies, to meet our demand or to fill storage. 

     MR. ROSS:  So the delivery point is Dawn.  Where is the source point? 

     MR. SMALL:  Dawn. 

     MR. ROSS:  Dawn.  At the same Exhibit, at number 2, you refer to “Peaking/Seasonal.”  “Peaking” back-slash “Seasonal.”  Can you explain to us what this refers to? 

     MR. SMALL:  That would represent the forecast of the peaking supplies we would call on to satisfy what our peak-day requirements are -- or, not necessarily peak-day, but, over the winter season, those cold days when we need to -- additional supplies on a daily basis.  

     MR. ROSS:  And moving away from the mapping we've just been discussing, and turning to a conceptual level, at a conceptual level, one of the first steps a buyer would undertake when looking to acquire gas supply, is to determine the total cost involved in acquiring that supply.  Correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's one of the determining factors, but I think you have to also recognize that the demands in our franchise area are going to be different in the EDA versus the CDA.  So, dependent upon where that gas is needed -- for example, you may need additional supplies in Ottawa during the wintertime.  How are you going to get that gas there? You may have to rely on peaking supplies, for example.  

     MR. ROSS:  But, notwithstanding that, sir, one of the first steps a buyer would undertake is an analysis of how much gas, from each supply source, is going to cost, once it has been delivered to where you require it.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That would be one of the considerations.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would you agree that the first step in this type of cost analysis is to determine the supply price of gas that must be paid in the supply area?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  That's definitely one of the inputs.  


MR. ROSS:  And that the second step would be to calculate the transportation cost associated with the supply option?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  And a third step would be to calculate the fuel costs; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  Now, once I had all of this information from the steps we had just discussed, I would simply add the gas cost and the supply area, the transportation costs, and the cost of fuel to provide the total cost; yes?


MR. CHARLESON:  That would provide you, say, the economic cost of that transportation path, yes.


MR. ROSS:  And can you confirm this is commonly referred to as the total landed cost?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  And, if necessary, you would also convert the analysis to Canadian dollars so that cost comparisons are made in the same currency; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  You're going to look at the ‑‑ you're going to have to make exchange rate assumptions, but also when you're looking at the cost, it's a matter of looking at the time horizon you're looking at, as well, for that transportation path.  So it may involve some projections or assessment of both the cost of the supply at different points in time or as it moves out towards the future, and also expectations around the transportation tolls and fuel ratios looking forward.


MR. ROSS:  And a further step would be to convert to the same units of measure in doing this comparison; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  And can we agree that conceptually such a cost analysis must also consider gas delivered at a common point?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  You would look for the comparison to look at the total cost of moving the gas to where you need it at the points in time over the course of the year.


MR. ROSS:  So it would follow, then, just to be very clear, that with respect to deliveries at Dawn, you would have to add the cost of transportation from Dawn to the Enbridge CDA to be comparable to the cost of delivery on TransCanada PipeLines to the Enbridge CDA.


MR. CHARLESON:  If you're looking to compare the use of the gas in the winter, yes, but in the summer when you're looking to inject the gas into storage near Dawn, you need to take into consideration the costs associated with moving the gas from the CDA and the EDA to Dawn.


MR. ROSS:  But I thought we agreed conceptually we had to consider gas delivered at a common point; is that correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  What I indicated was, yes, it has to be at a common point, but you have to look at how it's being used over the entire year.  You can't look at ‑‑ you can't isolate specific points in time.  You have to look at what's the total cost implementation on an annual basis, given that not all of the gas that we have delivered, that's delivered, is required in the franchise areas at points in time.


MR. ROSS:  With respect to what we've just been discussing, that is deliveries at Dawn having to ‑‑ and the cost of transportation from Dawn to the Enbridge CDA, in order to be comparable to the cost of delivery on TransCanada PipeLines, to the Enbridge CDA, can we agree that this cost is roughly 13 cents per gigajoule or gJ plus fuel? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Subject to check, we'll agree to that.


MR. ROSS:  And can we also agree that this 13 cents reflects TransCanada's current toll from Dawn to the Enbridge CDA?


MR. CHARLESON:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  If it's of assistance in that check, I do have what has been provided to your counsel earlier, and that is an approved final tolls effective July 1st, 2005 from TransCanada.


I'm certainly happy to have this entered as an exhibit, if that assists you.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I think the one page that we were provided, though, didn't include the Dawn receive point.


MR. ROSS:  But at line 26, does it not refer to a Dawn to Enbridge CDA?


MS. NOWINA:  If we're going to discuss it, gentlemen, can we get it entered as an exhibit?


MR. ROSS:  Maybe with my learned colleague's, Mr. O'Leary's, permission, it may be easier to try to enter this as an exhibit for this discussion.


MR. MILLER:  We will give that exhibit number K1.3 and call it...


MS. NOWINA:  Is that all right with you Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, there is just a question.  My friend referred to line 26 and the copy of the tolls document that we have doesn't seem to be the same as what my friend is referring to.  Oh, so this is something different?


MS. NOWINA:  Let's make sure we all have it.


MR. ROSS:  Absolutely.  Absolutely.


MS. NOWINA:  K1.3.


MR. MILLER:  TCPL transportation tariff.


MR. ROSS:  It's transportation tariff effective July 1st, 2005, to be specific.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  TRANSPORTATION TARIFF EFFECTIVE JULY 1ST, 2005

MR. CHARLESON:  Now that we have the same paper, I would agree that if we were using TCPL for moving that gas from Dawn to the Enbridge CDA, that effective July 1 the cost would be -- would be the 12.77.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  Would you also agree that Dawn is located in TransCanada's southwest zone?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROSS:  And is it your understanding that there is available capacity on TransCanada PipeLines from Empress to the southwest zone?


MR. CHARLESON:  I believe there is, but I don't know with certainty.


MR. ROSS:  Is it your understanding, at least, that at least 600,000 gJs per day of capacity has been available for contracting on a firm basis from Empress to the southwest zone at least since November of 2004?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm aware there has been capacity available.  In terms of the specific volumes, I couldn't say with certainty.  


MR. ROSS:  It may be helpful in this case, members of the Board, to introduce another exhibit which specifically refers to these amounts, if that's acceptable to Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm not sure what my friend is referring to.


MR. ROSS:  What I would like to produce is a series of informational postings from TransCanada going back to November of 2004 indicating the capacity available for contracting on a firm basis from Empress to the southwest zone.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, the witnesses, nor I, have seen these documents.  I can't comment on them at this point, other than to suggest that if they had been produced in an earlier proceeding at the National Energy Board, they stand for what they stood for there.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we have them entered as an exhibit, Mr. O'Leary, and if your panel has a concern, they can let us know that?


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I certainly don't want to belabour the issue.  The witness has indicated that it's his understanding that there is available capacity, and this may be just of assistance, in terms of discussing the information. 


MR. MILLER:  We'll give this Exhibit No. K1.4, and it will be titled informational postings capacity, unsubscribed.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  INFORMATIONAL POSTINGS CAPACITY, UNSUBSCRIBED

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, do you have anything else you are going to be submitting as exhibits?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, we do, Madam Chair.  There is a couple of aids to cross in spreadsheet form which had been provided to Enbridge's counsel, one of which we still intend to use; one of which, in view of some of the information which came out in the examination in‑chief, we will likely not use; and then there is a final exhibit that we will be referring to, which is an IR, an interrogatory response, from Enbridge in a previous proceeding.


So there will be certain other exhibits as aids to cross or certain other aids to cross, which we would like to utilize.


MS. NOWINA:  Has Enbridge previously been aware that these were going to be entered as exhibits?


MR. ROSS:  Enbridge has received from us, in spreadsheet format, the aids to cross.  They have not received from us the interrogatory response, but it was their interrogatory response in a different proceeding.


MS. NOWINA:  Any concerns with that, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, just to clarify what it is we did receive, we received a package on Friday which includes the several maps that have been introduced as an exhibit and some spreadsheets, which my friend may or may not try to have introduced.  


Exhibit K1.4 was not something that was provided.  It may or may not be of relevance.  The concern is one of procedure, first of all.  Just as plain courtesy to the witnesses, I would wish, they would wish, that they had an opportunity to see this in advance and be able to review it and speak to it.  But, normally, if a party intends to adduce or take a position at a hearing, they should file it as part of their evidentiary record, and this is somewhat unusual, in that my friend appears to be producing K1.4 and asking the Board to accept it as proof of a particular fact, yet it has not been adduced as part of that party's evidentiary record.  As a matter of procedure, we suggest that that is a little out-of-the-ordinary, in respect of the spreadsheets that my friend is going to produce, and I believe the witnesses can speak to the numbers that are contained therein, and that's appropriate line of questioning.  

     MR. ROSS:  If I may, Madam Chair.  With respect, TransCanada's position is that there is not anything particularly out of sorts about the kind of information we're discussing here.  

     To the extent that there has been documentation produced by TransCanada, which had been generated by TransCanada - specifically, spreadsheets to test the witnesses, maps to help a discussion of certain areas - then those had been provided to Enbridge's counsel.  

     To the extent there is documentation which is on the public record, for example, NEB information -- National Energy Board information, I should say, information which had been generated by Enbridge in another proceeding, it was TransCanada's position that this was information that was already within the knowledge of Mr. O'Leary's client.  

     And for that reason, we didn't -- we did not produce it in advance to them.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I -- in respect of the interrogatory my friend is referring to, I have yet to see it so I don't know whether or not it is something within the knowledge of these witnesses or someone else at the company, so it is a little difficult for me to respond to, at this time.  But our concerns remain in respect to the process, and my friend's client should know the process is such that early production of your record is appropriate in these proceedings.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I understand, Mr. O'Leary.  Just a moment.  

[The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, the Panel has concluded that we will allow you to introduce these documents.  But we are sympathetic to Mr. O'Leary's concern about procedure, and in future, and to the other intervenors, we would ask you to follow the normal procedure.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     To follow up on our earlier examination, I will repeat the question, the question that I had asked, and that is, is it your understanding that at least 600,000 gJ per day of capacity has been available for contracting, on a firm basis, from Empress to the south-west zone, at least since November of 2004? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, based on the Exhibit that you have provided here, it doesn't necessarily indicate the time-frame.  It indicates that it -- definitely, since November of 2000 -- or, that it's available starting November 1 of 2005, that there is that capacity.  So, again, subject to check, I can accept your number, but there is nothing in this Exhibit that would indicate that.  

     MR. ROSS:  If I could -- with your permission, if I could take you to a couple of other pages in that Exhibit.  It is four pages, and the -- I'm sorry, it is five pages.  And on the fourth of those five pages, under the heading "System-Wide Notices Distributed by NRG Information Services", towards the bottom of that page, you see that there is a chart at the bottom of that page.  The heading above that chart, would you agree, says “Available FT Capacity for Service Starting November 1st, 2004”?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.  And, I guess, given that I haven't had an opportunity to really review the five pages, that led to my earlier response.  

     However, as well, this would indicate that for service November 1, 2004, there was 600,000 available.  The degree to which that was contracted between then and November 1, 2005, capacity becoming available, it's uncertain.  But, again, I think, you know, based on the numbers we're seeing here, it is safe to assume there has been capacity available. 

     MR. ROSS:  So -- Just so I’m clear, and I’ll move on, between what you referred to on page 4 of that exhibit and what you've referred to at page 1 of that exhibit, you -- can we agree that there has been at least 600,000 gJ a day available for contracting? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I will agree there was 600,000 available for November 1, 2004.  And then there is, again, 600,000, or, I guess, 750,000 available on November 1, 2005.  What capacity was available in the intervening period, I can't comment on. 

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir. 

     And the capacity available in the open season we've just been discussing would be renewable annually for a one-year term.  Correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I'm not familiar with the -- with the requirements of this open season.  Again, subject to check, I am willing to accept that.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  

     And would you agree that the toll to the southwest zone is less than the toll to the eastern zone? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.  

     MR. ROSS:  And in calculating the costs at Enbridge Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 2, page 2, with respect to deliveries by TransCanada Pipeline, Enbridge is calculating costs using TransCanada's eastern zone toll.  Correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct, because that is the capacity we've contracted for.  

     MR. ROSS:  I’d like to refer back to the Exhibit that we had been discussing, which has the title “Transportation Tolls, Effective July 1, 2005. "  I will give you a moment to turn back -- I believe its A1.3, I believe.  

     MS. NOWINA:  A1.3?

     MR. CHARLESON:  K1.3?  

     MR. ROSS:  I'm sorry, K1.3.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can we agree that TransCanada's current tolls for firm transportation service from Empress to the south-west zone via TransCanada pipeline are shown at line ten of that document, at 86.333 cents per gJ. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  

     MR. ROSS:  I’d now like to move, if I may, to some specifics respecting pipeline route costs, and refer you to the TransCanada aid to cross-examination, which was provided earlier to your counsel and is entitled “Cost of Purchasing Gas and Transporting on ANR-MichCon-Link versus Cost of Purchasing Gas and Transporting on TransCanada.”  

     And I will give you a moment, and I’ll give the Board a moment -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Do you have an exhibit number, Mr. Battista?

     MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, we’ll give that Exhibit Number K1.5, and it will be characterized as “Cost of Purchasing Gas and Transporting on ANR-MichCon-Link.”  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COST OF PURCHASING GAS AND TRANSPORTING ON ANR-MICHCON-LINK

     MR. ROSS:  I take it that this is a document you have seen earlier? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct.  We were provided with this on Friday.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  And, by way of introduction, this Exhibit compares, as the title might subject the total cost of purchasing gas in two different supply areas, and the total cost of transporting that gas to a common delivery point, namely, Dawn.  

     I should also say the information in this aid to cross is largely derived from the information Enbridge provided at Exhibit 1, tab 23, schedule 2.  

     And, before we move any further, do you agree that the total annual cost in unit-cost of link supplies shown in the first five lines of that Exhibit are accurate? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, this information comes off the interrogatory response.  

     MR. ROSS:  And then, do you agree that the total cost in unit-cost of an equivalent volume of gas purchased at Empress, Alberta, and transported via TransCanada Pipelines to the TransCanada Pipelines' south-west zone, shown in lines 6 to 9 of that Exhibit, are accurate? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.  

     MR. ROSS:  And, if you accept both of those propositions, then can we also agree that the annual cost of a TransCanada route is $4 million -- more or less $4 million less than the annual cost of the ANR-MichCon-Link supply route? 


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that, if ‑‑ if you base it on the assumption that the ‑‑ of the July 1st, 2005 TCPL tolls, which did reflect a significant reduction over the previous tolls, and, again, you would have to look at what assumptions should be used for 2006 tolls and what -- it's our company's expectation that TransCanada's tolls will not be continuing at the level they're at and that we would expect them to return to levels that were in place, say, prior to July 1st.


So, again, like I indicated before, there are ‑‑ there are other factors that have to be considered, but based on the way this analysis has been prepared and the assumptions that have been used to underpin it, I would agree that the TransCanada path does show as being $4 million.


MR. ROSS:  But the tolls we're discussing are the most current tolls, are they not?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, but there is also assumptions that have to be made around expectations for tolls.  Is TransCanada proposing that these tolls will continue indefinitely?


MR. ROSS:  And what are those assumptions?


MR. SMALL:  Well, I think what Mr. Charleson is trying to point out is, if we were to look back to August 1, 2004, the east field, southwest zone toll was a dollar-one.  So is that 15-cent decline that we've seen since last year going to continue to next year?


If not, if it goes back up to the level that we saw last year, that 42-cent difference that you're showing on your exhibit would drop by about 15 cents.


MR. ROSS:  But I want to take you back, Mr. Charleson, to the tolls you were discussing prior to July 1st, and what would ‑‑ what would those be?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I don't have the precise numbers with me, but I know there are interim tolls in place.  They were definitely higher than this level, but I couldn't give you the precise number.


MR. ROSS:  Even if those tolls, as you suggested in your assumptions, might increase, we've agreed, have we not, based on the assumptions behind the exhibit in front of you - that is, based on the tolls of July 1st, 2005 - that even if those were to go up, let's say, by 10 cents, 15 cents, wouldn't it still be the case that the TransCanada option is less expensive than the cost of link supplies?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that -- well, based on the numbers that are here, that there could be an increase in the TransCanada tolls.  That would still leave this as a lower-cost path.  However, at the time when we will be making decisions around whether to renew our MichCon link capacity, we will look at the information available at that time.  


We will look at the costs associated with the ANR MichCon link path.  We will look at any other benefits that there may be associated with that path and make a determination then, in terms of what we believe is in the best interests of our ratepayers.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to stick, for the time being, with one more question based on the current tolls.  Firstly, it's Enbridge's position that in their analyses they always use the current tolls, isn't that correct, whatever those current tolls are?


For example, in your application, you use the tolls that were current at that time; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  It's true in our application we will use the current tolls.  When we look at our assessment for long‑term ‑‑ for our supply planning, we won't necessarily use the current tolls.  We will look at what are reasonable expectations related to those tolls; otherwise, your analysis could be significantly skewed.  Just the same as if you made ‑‑ if you use, say, current exchange rates versus exchange rate expectations, it's going ‑‑ it may skew your analysis.  


So you want to base your analysis on your expectations for the time frame when you're going to be using that capacity.


MR. ROSS:  So we can agree that everything is updated, essentially?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  We're constantly reviewing and updating our supply plan model.


MR. ROSS:  One final question with respect to the aid to cross in front of you, and that is, we've agreed that the annual cost of the TransCanada route is roughly 4 million less than the annual cost of an ANR-MichCon-Link supply route.  Can this be stated otherwise, that TransCanada's route is 42 cents per gJ in this analysis, less than the ANR MichCon link route?


MR. CHARLESON:  Based on the assumptions used in this analysis, yes.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to move to a second aid to cross that had been provided to the Enbridge panellists, and there is an interesting twist, Madam Chair and members of the Board, that has arisen.  It was TransCanada's understanding, based on Exhibit "I", tab 23, schedule 3 and exhibit "I", tab 23, schedule 8 that in respect of the Vector ‑‑ in respect of Vector third tranche, that there was an expiry date of October 31st, 2005.


We've heard this afternoon from the Enbridge witnesses that, in fact, the expiry date in respect of the Vector third tranche is October 31st, 2010.


TransCanada undertook a significant amount of analysis to try and show a cost comparison of Vector purchasing gas ‑‑ the cost of purchasing gas and transporting on Vector versus the cost of purchasing gas and transporting on TransCanada.


In view of what we've heard in the examination in‑chief, our analysis may not be of that much of assistance to this Board at this time, but what I would like to do is, if I may, ask a couple of questions with respect to why the change occurred.


If you could help me understand, firstly, when did that change take place, and by "change", I mean your determination that the Vector third tranche ended October 31st, 2010, rather than 2005?


MR. CHARLESON:  We identified that at the time the supplemental TransCanada interrogatory came in, so ‑‑ which was TransCanada Interrogatory No. 8, which is found in Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 8.


Upon receipt of that, we saw, from the preamble to that question, that there was ‑‑ that the date on the Vector contract was reflected incorrectly, so then we referred back to the original table for Interrogatory No. 3, found that there had been an error on that.  However, subsequent to that, as well, the table 3 had been replaced by a new table in which the date was no longer reflected, which meant that we hadn't ‑‑ which led us to not needing to, say, correct the original exhibit.


MR. SMALL:  But certainly our intent was, even though the exhibit didn't have to be updated, we knew it was something we had to bring forward and that's why we chose to do it today.


MR. ROSS:  So the error was found upon receipt of the TransCanada -- or from your review of the TransCanada aid to cross?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  It was upon receipt of the supplemental interrogatory, TransCanada No. 8.


MR. ROSS:  Which was roughly a month ago?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  Maybe six weeks, yeah.


MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Are there any ‑‑ are there any volumetric step-down rights in respect of the Vector third tranche to occur before the expiry date of 2010?


MR. CHARLESON:  None that I'm aware of.


MR. SMALL:  No.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to do some further examination on the Vector third tranche contract, but I am going to save to a later point when we discuss other contracts that –- 

If you're there, if you could please turn to what is item 1.2 in column 4 specifically my question is please explain how you determine gas costs of $6.765 per GJ for the western-at-Empress TCPL indicator there, under the heading “Western Canadian Supplies.”  How was that gas cost determined? 

     MR. SMALL:  We attempted to describe that as part of our pre-filed evidence in Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, where we talk about how we took a 21-day average of prices from November 12, 2004, to December 14th, 2004, and calculated what that average price was for the various supply points.  And, in this case, we would have had a forecasted monthly price for Empress supplies and applied that monthly forecasted price to what our expected purchases would have been on a monthly basis.  And what you see there, on the D Exhibit, is the summary of those 12 months’ worth of purchases -- or, the average of those 12 months’ purchases.  

     MR. ROSS:  But I -- maybe you can help me out just, further, how we got to that number of 6.765?  

     MR. SMALL:  Well, if you turn to Board Staff Interrogatory Number 52 -- so that's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 52, we go through an explanation of how we calculate the monthly supply costs, where you would take that 21-day average - the period that I described, November 12 to December 14th - and you would have a forecast of future monthly prices for the various receipt points.  

     So, over that 21-day period, you would have a forecast of January, 2006, Empress prices.  So whatever that 21-day average was for the month of January, that price would be applied to the forecasted July supplies.  You would do that for each and every month.  So what you're seeing on Exhibit D1, tab 1 -- sorry exhibit 1 -- D1, tab 2, the 6.765, is the annual average.  

     MR. ROSS:  Is the annual average, but when you've referred me to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 4, and column 1, I see what appears to be an average of 6.7125.  

     MR. SMALL:  That average there, that you referred to, is the simple average of the monthly prices, where the average that appears on Exhibit D1, tab 2, is going to be based on how much you're buying each and every month versus on an annual basis.  So it's going to vary slightly.  

     MR. ROSS:  I have a couple of questions in the same vein, still with respect to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1.  And item 1.5, when you look at column 4, has a determined gas cost of $7.435 per gJ for Western and Alliance.  And, again, my question is, how is this number determined? 

     MR. SMALL:  In a similar fashion.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would the same thing be true in respect of items 4.1 - which is a gas cost of $7.573 per gJ - 4.2, 4.3, 5.1 and 5.2, and the corresponding gas costs in column four? 

     MR. SMALL:  Yes.  We would have taken the 21-day average over that same time-frame for the various receipt points, and whatever that forecasted unit rate was for a particular month, times whatever volume that we were anticipating to buy that month, and then we simply would have summed them up to come up with what the annual volume was and the annual dollar amount.  So you've got that average that you see there, in column four.  

     MR. ROSS:  Again, at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 4, if I could refer you to lines 6.13, 6.14 and 6.15, and the transportation costs for the Vector first, second and third tranches, set out under column 2.  How were these amounts determined? 

     MR. SMALL:  Based upon the tolls at the time.  Whatever the contracted capacity level was times the specific toll.  No different in how we would have done it for TransCanada.  We would have looked at whatever volumes that we were moving, the demand charge and the applicable toll for a given month, added them up.  

     MR. ROSS:  Were they specifically determined by using some sort of average rate forecast? 

     MR. SMALL:  No.  It would have been just whatever the toll was at the time.  

     MR. ROSS:  I'm wondering if you can help us, by providing the calculations showing exactly how Vector first, second and third tranche transportation costs are derived, including assumptions for each one, the reason being is - and it may be my fuzzy lawyer math - but when I multiply volumes by rates, I get different numbers than what are indicated in that schedule.  

     MR. SMALL:  I guess the difficulty I'm having is not knowing what number you came up with, how I can try to describe any further what we would have calculated.  We tried to attempt to provide in Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, all of the individual parameters associated with our transportation costs, the contracted demand levels, the various tolls, the monthly demand charges, and all that kind of information.  So I guess I'm having difficulty.  

     MR. ROSS:  Since my lawyer math is probably a little too fuzzy, maybe I could ask you, instead, to supply us with calculations, or undertake to do so, showing how those transportation costs were derived.  

     MR. SMALL:  I guess part of the difficulty is, as you see on that exhibit, Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, the amount for the Vector-3 was a negotiated toll.  So we would have taken what that toll was, times the transportation amount, plus the parameters associated with Vectors 1 and 2.  We summed up the total annual transportation cost, and we split it three ways, based upon the volume for tranche 1, 2 and 3.  

     So, I guess, we're somewhat reluctant to provide that information, because then we would be getting into the specifics about what that negotiated toll was.  

     MR. ROSS:  Can we -- maybe we can avoid going through specifics, but can we agree that the numbers are here are not the actual numbers for each; that there is some sort of averaging which is taking place here? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's fair.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  

     Turning to a more general proposition, would you agree that the notion of available capacity means that there is not a need for further facilities to be constructed to provide that capacity? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  

     MR. ROSS:  And, in view of that description of available capacity, would you agree, all else being equal, that increases in contracted volumes on TransCanada would result in a reduction in TransCanada tolls?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, in theory that should be the result.         

     MR. ROSS:  And, in principle, would this reduction in tolls be to the benefit of all shippers on TransCanada?

     MR. CHARLESON:  Obviously, lower tolls are to the benefit of shippers.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir. 

     I would like to move in -- to a new direction, and that is about contracts respecting the pipeline segments that make up the ANR-MichCon-Link supply path.  

     I recognize that there are a number of detailed questions about these contractual arrangements which may take some time to go through, but, in advance of doing that, I would suggest I need to do so in order to test and assist this Board in its consideration of certain Enbridge contracting decision points.  

     The contracts in issue either expired during the test year or have cost implications in the test year, and, therefore, that's why I'm going through, in some detail, hopefully, a series of questions with you about contracting.  Specifically, I’d like to refer to Exhibit I, tab 23, schedule 3, page 1, and I’ll give you a moment to turn that up.   

     MR. CHARLESON:  We have it. 

 
MR. ROSS:  So we're all looking at the same information, I have two versions of this attachment which would I like to refer to.  I have one labelled "Original" and has a column entitled "Expiry Date", and I have a version which is labelled "Updated", which has additional information on it, but is missing the expiry date column, both filed by Enbridge.  I will give you a moment to get both versions in front of you.


MR. CHARLESON:  We have them.


MR. ROSS:  Would you agree in these attachments you provide details with respect to a number of upstream capacity arrangements; correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And I would like to first refer you to what is line 6.8 of those attachments, which refers to Union C1 transportation.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we have that.


MR. ROSS:  And if you could please refer to the item that is described as Union C1 transportation, St. Clair to Dawn?  Do you see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  It has a contracted daily volume of 20,870 gJs; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.  


MR. ROSS:  And I assume by the description that this contract is used to transport gas on Union's system from St. Clair to Dawn.  Yes?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's what it would be for.


MR. ROSS:  And can you confirm what the source of this gas is?


MR. CHARLESON:  The source of that gas would typically be off an ANR line.


MR. ROSS:  Off an ANR line.  So would it be through link?


MR. SMALL:  No, it would not.


MR. ROSS:  So the gas would not be related to MichCon or Link?


MR. SMALL:  No, it would not.


MR. ROSS:  What would it be?  


MR. SMALL:  You would -- as Mr. Charleson mentioned, you would be moving gas up ANR to St. Clair, and then use Union's line to bring it across.


MR. ROSS:  Could you please provide annual volumes that have been moved under this contract since the contract was entered into?


MR. SMALL:  We can undertake.


MR. ROSS:  Well, provide an undertaking, that's fine.  Has ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't know if it might be of assistance to the Board to let the Board know that the company is not renewing that contract, So while it appears in this exhibit here, because at the time the evidence was filed a decision had not been made on that, that it won't be renewed and so, therefore, it would have no implications within the test year.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, does that make a difference to your requirements?


MR. ROSS:  I think I'm okay without it, Madam Chair.  It may be ‑‑ it would be helpful, but I can live without it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. SMALL:  Maybe if I could just add, so the intent would be that when we came forward as part of our January 1, QRAM, we would reflect that reduction.


MR. ROSS:  You've indicated that the transportation contract will not be extended beyond the October 31st, 2005 expiry date; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  In that case, what does Enbridge intend to do respecting St. Clair to Dawn transportation?


MR. CHARLESON:  Again, we won't be having any St. Clair to Dawn transportation.


MR. ROSS:  But have you looked at other options with respect to that transportation?


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry, I'm not clear about what you're getting at by "other options".


MR. ROSS:  In your analysis to review, can you explain the sort of ‑‑ whether there are any sort of options analysis or anything of that sort?


MR. CHARLESON:  What we did was we looked at the economics in terms of that route into Dawn, and it was our determination that that wasn't ‑‑ that there were more economic paths, including potentially just purchasing supply at Dawn.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to move to another contract.  If you could refer to line 6.10 of the same exhibit, so the contract described as ANR transportation, ANR southwest.


And this shows a contracted daily volume of 7,567 decatherms and expiry date of October 31st, 2007; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Just so I'm understanding the same units of measurement here, can you confirm how I would convert from decatherms to gJs?


MR. SMALL:  You would divide that number by 1.055056. 


MR. ROSS:  And you ‑‑ would it be divide or multiply?


MR. SMALL:  I'm just trying to think.  Sorry, you would multiply.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  Can you confirm that the monthly demand charges of 9.482 US dollars per decatherm for the ANR southwest and 9.982 US dollars per decatherm for the ANR southeast transportation lines respectively are correct?


MR. SMALL:  They would have been the unit rates used at the time of the preparation of the 2006.  I can't recall off the top of my head whether or not those tolls have changed since that time.


MR. ROSS:  Sorry, you cannot recall?


MR. SMALL:  I can't recall if they have changed, but I know those were the tolls that were used as part of the preparation of the budget.


MR. ROSS:  Can you tell me approximately where, in the southern US -- or I take it that this contract pertaining to ANR southwest is used to transport gas purchased in the southern United States?


MR. SMALL:  All I know is that we have a transportation path on ANR that moves from -- in the southwest that moves from what's known as the Greenberg Head station to Willow Run, and the southeast moves from what's called the Uniset station to Willow Run, where it interconnects with MichCon, and then MichCon brings it up to the ANR-Link for us.


MR. ROSS:  Is this gas purchased under a long-term contract or short‑term contract?


MR. SMALL:  Month to month.


MR. ROSS:  Month to month.  Are there any volumetric step-down rates in the transportation contract before the expiry date?


MR. SMALL:  No, there are not.


MR. ROSS:  If I could keep you with the same document, line 610, again, to the contract described as ANR transportation, ANR southeast, and this line also shows a contracted daily volume of 7,567 decatherms and an expiry date of October 31st, 2007; correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And this contract is also used to transport gas purchased in the southern United States; correct?


MR. SMALL:  We would be buying it at those receive points that I mentioned.


MR. ROSS:  The exact same received points that we talked about in respect of ANR southwest?


MR. SMALL:  Well, there is one receive point for the southwest and there is one for the southeast.


MR. ROSS:  Is this gas purchased under a long-term or a short‑term contract?


MR. SMALL:  Month to month.


MR. ROSS:  And other than ‑‑ well, are there any material differences between the ANR southeast and ANR southwest contracts we have just discussed?


MR. ROSS:  Not that I'm aware of.


MR. SMALL:  Not that I'm aware of.


MR. ROSS:  With respect to the ANR southeast and southwest contracts, where does ANR transport this gas to for Enbridge?


MR. SMALL:  As I mentioned a moment ago, it would go up to the delivery point, which is known as Willow run.


MR. ROSS:  And is this a connection in any way with MichCon?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROSS:  Judging by the forecasted annual volumes set out in the updated version of Exhibit 1, tab 23, schedule 3, with respect to the ANR southeast and southwest contracts we've been discussing, is it accurate to say that Enbridge plans to operate those contracts at 100 percent load factor or close to it?


MR. SMALL:  Certainly in the 2006 budget, those two contracts were, I believe -- subject to check, were maximized at the 100 percent level.  That doesn't necessarily mean that on a go-forward basis, as we go through the year, that we would operate them at 100 percent load factor.


MR. ROSS:  Can you provide the annual volumes Enbridge has moved under the ANR southeast and ANR south-west contracts during the term of those contracts?


MR. SMALL:  That's something that we can undertake to provide.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  So you will provide an undertaking.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be under J1.1, and it will be characterized as, Mr. Small?


MR. SMALL:  I guess the clarification we would have to make is, when you say historically, how far back would you care to go?


MR. ROSS:  During the term of those contracts.


MR. SMALL:  So as I understand the undertaking, you're looking for the volumes delivered under the ANR southwest and the ANR south-east links on an annual basis from the existence of those contracts?

UNDERTAKING J1.1:  REQUEST FOR VOLUMES DELIVERED UNDER ANR SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST LINKS ON AN ANNUAL BASIS AND WHEN THE CONTRACTS WERE ENTERED INTO.  ALSO TO INCLUDE MICHCON AND ENBRIDGE CONTRACTS

     MR. ROSS:  That's correct.  When were the ANR south-east and south-west contracts entered into? 

     MR. SMALL:  Subject to check, it would be, I believe, 1996 or 1997.  Subject to check.  

     MR. ROSS:  And do you recall the commencement date for each of those contracts? 

     MR. SMALL:  They would have been November 1 of those years, if I've got the years correct.       

MR. ROSS:  And is October 31st, 2007, the original expiry date for each of those two contracts? 

     MR. SMALL:  I believe that they are.    

     MR. ROSS:  And -- 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I -- I hesitate to interrupt my friend, but just in the interests of moving matters along, I'm wondering if my friend could indicate why it would be of assistance for this panel and the company to go back and provide information going back almost ten years in respect of gas volumes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fair question, Mr. O'Leary. 

     Mr. Ross? 

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There is a number of reasons why I am taking -- why I would like to test and like to find out information about the contracts and issues -- at issue.  

     Firstly, as I believe I have indicated earlier, there is a number of key decision points with respect to Enbridge contracting in the test year in this matter.  In order for TransCanada to be able to test the assumptions, to be able to provide -- in order to assist the Board in as fulsome a way as possible, TransCanada believes it is important to find out information about those contracts.  

     Secondly, in tab 23, schedule 3 of Exhibit 1, there are references to those contracts that have been put in as evidence by Enbridge.  And while there is some detail with respect to those contracts, TransCanada submits that it may be relevant -- may be of interest to this Board to find out further details.  

     Many of the contracts in issue either expired during the test year, or have cost implications for the test year, and TransCanada submits that there may not be any other significant opportunity to find out those details, find out what the assumptions underpinning Enbridge's application are.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Ross, I think we can proceed.  But we -- this is rather lengthy, and we do have a lengthy hearing, so if you can move ahead as quickly as possible, and limit your undertakings to those that are critical for your analysis.  

     MR. ROSS:  I will do that, Madam Chair.  Thank you, very much.  

     Can you explain, in as much detail as -- well, can you explain the contractual options or rights that Enbridge has for either extending these contracts or terminating them?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's my understanding that these contracts do not have automatic renewal provisions, that, in essence, we will have to enter into a new contract to replace that -- to replace that capacity, if, at the time we conduct the analysis, we determine that, on a go-forward basis, it makes sense to re-contract that capacity.  

     MR. ROSS:  And has Enbridge taken any action, to date, to extend the term of these contracts beyond the October 31st, 2007, expiry date? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, we haven't.  

     MR. ROSS:  Are there any volumetric step-down rates before these expiry dates? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, as Mr. Small indicated earlier, we're not aware of any.  

     MR. ROSS:  And do the ANR southeast and southwest contracts allow for capacity release? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We don't know.    

     MR. ROSS:  Is that something that you could provide an answer to, subject to -- subject to check? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We can undertake to provide a response, if it's important.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would appreciate that, sir. 

     I’d like to move to -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Can we get the undertaking number, please, Mr. Battista?

     MR. BATTISTA:  That would be undertaking J1.2.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would describe that as any, to identify the existence of any capacity step-down provisions within the ANR contracts.  

     MR. ROSS:  Sorry, capacity release.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Capacity release provisions.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO MAKE NECESSARY INQUIRIES AND ADVISE AS TO WHETHER THE ANR SOUTH-EAST AND SOUTH-WEST CONTRACTS CONTAIN ANY PROVISIONS FOR CAPACITY RELEASE. INQUIRIES INTO VOLUMETRIC STEP-DOWN RIGHTS

     MR. ROSS:  I’d like to go through some similar information with respect to the MichCon transportation, Willow Run to Columbus contract, set out at line 610.  In view of trying to be expedient, I take it -- I will try to limit my questions as much as I can.  

     I take it that this contract is used to transport the gas delivered via the two ANR contracts we just discussed.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that’s correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And it appears that you're planning to operate the MichCon Willow Run to Columbus contract at 100 percent load-factor, or close to it; correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  The contract to go from Willow Run to the ANR-Link at Columbus -- the interconnect at Columbus is for 100 percent, yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  And, to the extent that one wouldn't operate the ANR south-west and south-east contracts at 100 percent load-factor, then isn't it likely that the MichCon contract would similarly operate at less than 100 percent load-factor? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's fair.     

     MR. ROSS:  And, as with the other contracts we've discussed, can I request that you please provide the annual volumes that Enbridge has moved under this contract during its term.  

     MR. SMALL:  I could include that as part of the undertaking that we talked about, 1.1.  

     MR. ROSS:  That would be helpful sir. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  And is it safe to you assume you will also look for any capacity release provisions in that contract? 

     MR. ROSS:  That's correct.   

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we mark those undertakings -- just give the undertakings a different title --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  -- to include the MichCon contracts as well.  

MR. ROSS:  And has Enbridge taken any action to date to extend the term of this contract beyond the October 31st, 2006, expiry date? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, we have not.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if Enbridge does nothing, does this contract expire on October 31st, 2006, that is, there is no automatic renewal? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it will expire at that time.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if notice is given to extend the Willow Run to Columbus contract, when is such notice required and who must provide that notice? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It's my understanding that there is no automatic renewal or extension provision.  It would be a matter of initiating a new contract with them for that -- for a time-period.  And that would be the responsibility of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. ROSS:  And, as with other contracts, are there any volumetric step-down rights before the expiry date? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  None that we're aware of -- none that we are aware of.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to move to the MichCon transportation Calcesca to Columbus contract.  Can you explain what this contract is used for? 

     MR. SMALL:  That’s -- that contract is used for moving MichCon production from the Calcesca receipt-point down to Columbus.  

     MR. ROSS:  And it appears that Enbridge plans to operate this contract at 100 percent load-factor, or very close to it.  Is that correct? 

     MR. SMALL:  In the 2006 forecast, yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can you also provide the annual volumes that Enbridge has moved under this contract during its term?  

     MR. SMALL:  Yes, we can undertake to provide that.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That would be J.1, 1.3.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Or do we just keep on extending 1.1? 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Your choice. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Why don't we keep adding to the list. 

     MR. ROSS:  That's certainly fine by me, if it's easier.  Thank you.    

MR. ROSS:  And has -- Enbridge taken any action to date to extend the term of this contract beyond the October 31st, 2006, expiry date? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, we have not.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can you inform us as to what the contractual options or rights that Enbridge has for either extending this contract or terminating it.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, there are no automatic renewal provisions or extension provisions.  We would have to enter into a new contract.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if notice is given to extends the Calcesca to Columbus contract, when is that notice required, and who provides that notice? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think, as I just indicated, there are no notice provisions or extension provisions.  The contract will terminate on that date and we will -- if we look for capacity we will have to enter into a new contract. 

     MR. ROSS:  Are there any volumetric step-down rights? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We allowed that to J 1.2.  

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  And does the contract allow for capacity release?   Is that something you can confirm, as well? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry.  That part we’ll add to J 1.2.   Your previous question, in terms of step-down rights:  there are none that we are of aware of.  

     MR. ROSS:  Now, I take it that, if Enbridge decided to extend the ANR south-west and south-east contracts, that it would probably want to extend the MichCon-Willow Run to Columbus contract, in order to complete the path.  Is that an accurate assumption? 

     MR. SMALL:  That's correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And is the decision on whether to extend the MichCon-Calcesca to Columbus contract tied to the decision that you make respecting extension of the

MichCon-Willow run to Columbus contract?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, it's not.


MR. ROSS:  So you could extend one of them, but not the other?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ROSS:  Can you explain why the ANR southwest and southeast contracts extend to October 2007 and the MichCon contracts extend only to October 2006?


MR. CHARLESON:  Other than those are the contract terms that were entered into at the time, I can't provide any explanation beyond that.


MR. ROSS:  Can we ‑‑ can we agree that there is a US portion and a Canadian portion to what is referred to in Enbridge's interrogatory responses as the link pipeline?


MR. CHARLESON:  We're not aware of any segregation between a US and Canadian portion of the ‑‑


MR. ROSS:  So there is not a US portion ‑‑ so just to be clear, there is not a US portion and a Canadian portion?


MR. SMALL:  If you're referring to the Niagara link, while the pipeline does go underneath the St. Clair River, the toll is a Canadian toll, so it's just one toll.  It is not split, or are you talking about the ANR-Link piece?


MR. ROSS:  Do they have different transportation contracts?  I'm just trying to get a better understanding of what the Link pipeline comprises, whether there is a US ANR-Link and a Canadian-Niagara-Link.


MR. CHARLESON:  So there are two pieces.  There's the ANR-Link, and then there is the Niagara-Link.


MR. ROSS:  And is it accurate to say that ‑‑ could we refer to the US portion as the ANR-Link and the Canadian portion as Niagara-Link?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that would be fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, if I could interrupt for a moment, I've been looking for a break or a change in your direction of questioning, but it continues.  So it is one hour before the end of today's hearing, and it's only one hour.  So perhaps we can continue, but I wanted to ask parties whether or not that seemed reasonable.  Mr. O'Leary, your panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  They appear willing.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, is there any hope that where in that hour we will complete your questioning?


MR. ROSS:  I will hopefully come very close, but I do have some ‑‑ a fair bit more material, so I can't ‑‑ while I will try very hard to do so, I can't necessarily commit to doing so.


MS. NOWINA:  I would ask you to try very, very hard, please.


MR. ROSS:  I will, Madam Chair.  Sir, getting back to the ANR-Link, I take it we've agreed we can refer to the US portion as ANR-ink and to the Canadian portion as

Niagara- Link?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we've agreed to that.


MR. ROSS:  You've agreed to that.  And do the ANR-Link and Niagara-Link reflect two different pipelines?


MR. CHARLESON:  They may be independent more from the way that they're contracted as opposed to, say, physical.


MR. ROSS:  So they reflect two different transportation contracts?


MR. SMALL:  I would have to go back and look at the individual contracts.


MR. ROSS:  I'll move forward.  We've described one piece as the ANR-Link.  And if I could refer you to the line 610 of the same exhibit, I take it that this contract is used to transport the gas moved on the ANR south-west and south-east contracts and the MichCon-Willow Run to Columbus contract, and the gas purchased at Calcesca and transported on the MichCon-Calcesca to Columbus contract?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And on the attachment of Exhibit "I", tab 23, schedule 3, marked "original", I see an ANR-Columbus to Karuna contract, but on the attachment marked "update", I don't see that reference.  Can you clarify why that is?


MR. SMALL:  It would have just been an oversight on my part.


MR. ROSS:  And on the attachment marked "update", are the ANR-Columbus to Karuna volumes and costs included in with the Link pipeline volumes and costs?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check, but I would think that they're probably embedded in the annual cost that we see there under the column "Annual Demand Cost".


MR. ROSS:  And will the volumes that -- what volumes does Enbridge forecast to move on the ANR-Columbus to Karuna contract in the test year?


MR. SMALL:  The 25 million a day.


MR. ROSS:  And this will be close, I take it, to 100 percent load factor?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And if I can also ask you, as I have with previous contracts, to provide the annual volumes that Enbridge has moved under the contract during the term of the contract as part of your undertaking?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we will.


MR. ROSS:  We've been discussing what has been referred to as the ANR linked ‑‑ as the ANR-Link.


Can we agree that the contract was entered into ‑‑ or when was the contract entered into?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to the dates, I can't recall when exactly they were entered into, but they would have all been entered into at the same time.


MR. ROSS:  And would that have been on or around November 1996?


MR. SMALL:  '96 or '97, subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  And is October 31st, 2006 the original expiry date of the contract?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROSS:  And has Enbridge undertaken any action to extend the term of the contract beyond that date?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, we haven't.


MR. ROSS:  If Enbridge does nothing, does the contract expire on that date; that is, there is no automatic renewal?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it will.


MR. ROSS:  Who owns the ANR link?


MR. CHARLESON:  ANR.


MR. ROSS:  Is there anybody else in the chain of ownership?  I mean, is -- is there a parent company, for example?


MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry.  I'm not aware of any of the ownership structure of ANR.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  What is the capacity on the ANR-Link?


MR. SMALL:  The total capacity?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, sir.


MR. SMALL:  I'm not aware what that is.


MR. ROSS:  Is that something you could undertake to provide, or is it simply unavailable?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, may I enquire through yourself as to the reason why my friend is requesting something that I would presume would be publicly available, as well?


MR. ROSS:  I'm prepared to move on.  If it's publicly available, then I don't want to request an undertaking 


Are there other shippers on the ANR-Link?


MR. CHARLESON:  That may be a question best directed to the people that operate the A%R-Link.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer to another contract.  It's at line number 6.11, and I will give you a minute to take a look at it.


I take it that this contract is used to transport gas contracted to flow through the ANR-Link to your Tecumseh storage facilities; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ROSS:  And subject to check -- and I won't request conversion of measurements here, but as a general question and subject to check, the contracted daily volume of 2,125 103 metres3 referred to at line 611 would convert to a contracted daily volume of approximately 80,000 gJs; correct?


MR. SMALL:  Or 75 million cubic feet, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  Is it accurate to say that Enbridge intends to operate the Niagara link contract at 100 percent load factor in the test year?


MR. SMALL:  We will not be ‑‑ the test year does not assume the operation of 100 percent of that, but, if you recall, the utilization of the link pipeline was an issue for a number of years, and there is a formula that we go through to calculate the unutilized cost consequences of the Link pipeline.  So at the end of every year, we will evaluate the unutilized portion, and, if, for example, we only used 25 million a day of the link, then two-thirds of the costs are removed from the PGVA and are borne by the shareholder.


So while we may, part of our forecast, include the full demand charges associated with the 75 million a day, if we don't use the full 75 on any given day, then there is a mechanism to reduce costs going through the PGVA.  

     MR. ROSS:  Can you confirm how the 775,625 ten-cubed meter-cubed opposite “Link Pipeline” at line 6.11 of that exhibit, relates to the volume of 255,441.9 ten-cubed metres-cubed, shown at line 5.1, at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, entitled "Link Supplies."  I’ll give you -- I’ll give you a moment to turn it up.  

     MR. SMALL:  I guess what I was trying to explain to you before -- we have a contract for 75 million a day of capacity on linked pipeline.  So, as part of the preparation of the 2006 gas-cost budget, we are going to include, as part of the line item 6.11, on Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1 -- where you see “Alliance Pipeline Cost” we have an amount of $1.2 million.  That's the costs associated with the full 75 million a day.  

     At item 5.1, “Link Supplies”, that volume represents what we actually forecast we're going to be moving, which is roughly 25 million a day for the year.  

     So there is going to be a difference between the contracted capacity and the amount of gas that we're going to be moving.  And that's why I was trying to allude to you that, if, at the end of the 2006 fiscal year, we fail to use a portion of that Link pipeline, then there is a mechanism to remove dollars from the PGVA account which would then be borne by the shareholder themselves.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Is October 31st, 2005, the original expiry date of that contract? 

     MR. SMALL:  As far as I know, yes.     

     MR. ROSS:  And can you describe actions to extend, if any -- to extend the term beyond the contract?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  At this time, no actions have been taken.  

     MR. ROSS:  Are there any volumetric step-down rates before the expiry date? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Not that I'm aware of.   

     MR. ROSS:  Who owns the Niagara-Link? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Niagara Gas Transmission is the owner of the Niagara-Link pipeline, which is owned by Enbridge.  

     MR. ROSS:  And are you familiar with any other shippers on the Niagara-Link?  Are there, to your knowledge, any? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think there is some other contract capacity with MichCon on there, but in terms of the volumes they move, I'm not familiar with that.  

     MR. ROSS:  And are any of these shippers affiliated with Enbridge? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, they're not.  

     MR. ROSS:  I’d like to turn to Vector pipeline, third tranche.  And I will try to be very previous on this, especially in view of the information we heard this morning in examination in-chief about the extension -- or, not the extension, but about the expiry date being 2010.  

     Would you agree that the Vector pipeline, third tranche, represents one path and one contract all the way to Dawn? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would you agree that Enbridge plans to operate this contract at 100 percent load-factor, or very close to it? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that would be our plan at this time.       

     MR. ROSS:  And you've described, at line 56.15, the toll to be paid in respect to Vector pipeline, third tranche, as a negotiated toll, correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And was this negotiated toll more or less than the tolls listed in the same exhibit for Vector pipeline, tranches 1 and 2? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, I guess, part of our concern in terms of responding to that question is just the extent to which it may disclose -- given it is a negotiated toll, does it start to zero in on terms of what the rate is there.  So, perhaps, if you could assist us with maybe the need for that or the relevance to -- under the line of questioning you're planning on taking.  

     MR. ROSS:  Well, again, the need for it was in respect of looking at contractual decisions that would be taking place in the test year, testing some of the contracts that had been mentioned in the Enbridge evidence.  But I am prepared to move on.  

     If you can explain how Enbridge acquired the Vector pipeline, third tranche capacity?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  We acquired it on the secondary market, from a third party.  

     MR. ROSS:  What was the commencement date of the contract acquired from that party? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We believe it was November 1 of 2003

--  

     MR. ROSS:  And when you say "obtained"? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- subject to check.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  When you say "obtained", do you mean that this was capacity obtained or assigned via a capacity release? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it was obtained through a capacity release.  

     MR. ROSS:  And you can -- can you confirm what the term of the original contract where this capacity comes from? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  At this point all we know is we acquired it through a capacity release, and the contract term runs through October 31st, 2010, and that's what we've contracted for.  

     MR. ROSS:  And what would happen if Enbridge was not to extend the term of the assignment:  it would go back to the original shipper? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm not sure what the specific provisions in the contract are, whether there’s automatic renewal rights or whether it just will hit expiry.  Again, given that it runs through ‘til 2010, it's something that we haven’t put a lot of attention to.   

     MR. ROSS:  That's fine.  What is Enbridge's ownership interest in Vector? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm not sure what the exact percentage is today --  

     MR. ROSS:  Could you be -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- but we do have an ownership interest.  

     MR. ROSS:  Could you provide a best estimate?  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think it may be around a third, but that would have to be subject to check.  It's changed in the past year or so -- 

     MR. ROSS:  Could it be subject to an undertaking? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  We can do that.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.

     MR. BATTISTA:  So that would be Undertaking J1.3, the Enbridge -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It would be the Enbridge, I guess, holdings within Vector pipeline -- or the ownership share of Enbridge, of Vector pipeline.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO MAKE NECESSARY INQUIRIES AND ADVISE AS TO THE EXTENT OF ENBRIDGE’S OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN VECTOR PIPELINE

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  

     Thank you, sir.  Just as a matter of clarification, regarding fuel volumes or ratios:  under the column marked “Fuel Ratio” of the updated version, you've indicated that a fuel ratio for Vector, third tranche, is approximately .5 of a percent and embedded in commodity costs, whereas in the original version under the column "Fuel Rate", at line 6.15, you show 1.01 percent.  

     Can you help me with what the differences are here, or confirm the correct number?  

     MR. SMALL:  It would be the .5 percent.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  

     I would like to take you back to an Interrogatory Response filed in RP-2003-0048.  And this is something that Mr. O'Leary and I had discussed earlier on today, in terms of whether or not this is a document that could be put -- or that ought to be put to the witnesses, or not.  

     What I would like to do is, if I may, enter this as an exhibit before the Board.  I do have a couple of questions in relation to it.  Alternatively, what I could do is read into the record a couple of sentences in it that I feel are particularly important to the examination I want to conduct.  I'm in the -- I'm in your hands, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, do you have a preference? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Our preference would be that the document be produced, so the witnesses could see what is stated in the context of what is said.  

 
MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  The exhibit number, Mr. Battista.


MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.  The exhibit will be K1.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY 15,

RP-2003‑0203

MR. BATTISTA:  And it's Board Staff interrogatory 15, RP-2003‑0203.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, would that be exhibit K1.7 or 1.6?


MR. BATTISTA:  1.6.


MS. NOWINA:  I think it's K1.6.  Correct, Mr. Battista?


MR. BATTISTA:  K1.6.


MS. DeMARCO:  My apologies for the interruption.  I have as K1.5 the cost of purchasing gas and transporting on ANR, and I have K1.6, the cost of purchasing gas and transporting on Vector.  Have I got --


MR. BATTISTA:  Oh, that's part of K1.5.


MS. DeMARCO:  My apologies.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, just for clarification here, Exhibit K1.5, as I understood it, was only in relation to the ANR MichCon.  I don't believe that the spreadsheet in respect of Vector has been produced as an exhibit.  


MR. BATTISTA:  You're correct.  It was a comparison of the ANR to the TransCanada.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  That's correct.  It was not my intention to enter a Vector spreadsheet as an exhibit.  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  So K1.5 is cost of purchasing gas and transporting on ANR-MichCon-Link versus cost of purchasing gas and transporting on TransCanada?  That is 1.5?


MR. ROSS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  You have not asked for another exhibit, so that the next one is K1.6, the one I'm dealing with now?


MR. ROSS:  That's acceptable, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that help, Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  Apologies.


MS. NOWINA:  No problem.


MR. ROSS:  Witnesses, do you have that exhibit in respect of RP-2003‑0203 in front of you?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we do.


MR. ROSS:  Would you agree that this is an interrogatory response to Board Staff of Enbridge showing economic analysis and assumptions that supported Enbridge's decision to contract for Vector pipeline capacity commencing November 1st, 2003?


MR. CHARLESON:  Without having had the opportunity to look through all of the pages, that appears to be what this interrogatory response is related to.


MR. ROSS:  Mr. Small, perhaps my ‑‑ am I correct in understanding that your name is on the bottom of that interrogatory response?


MR. SMALL:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROSS:  It may be most helpful for me to direct my questions to you, then, in this case.


 MR. SMALL:  Just to clarify, it was a joint panel, myself and Mr. Brennan and Ms. Lee, and, in fact, that year I believe that gas costs was ADR.  This would have been while Mr. Brennan and myself would have been responsible for acting as witnesses for gas costs.  This was actually something that was put together by Mr. -- (inaudible).


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm in a position to talk to it.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  I would only ask that you do the best you can with this document.  What, in particular, I want to focus on is a couple of statements made on page 1 of that exhibit.


And, in particular, it's ‑‑ it's page 1 of 6 of that interrogatory response, and, in particular, it is the lines beginning, if I may quote into the record:

"A significant amount of TransCanada PipeLines, TransCanada firm transportation, FT contract commitments was available for renewal on May 1st, 2003.  This event provided Enbridge Gas Distribution with an opportunity to review its portfolio of upstream transportation and associated sources of gas supply.  After evaluating the various options available, Enbridge concluded that the most economical alternative was to source gas in Chicago and contract on the Vector pipeline."


Do you see that, gentlemen?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROSS:  Furthermore, in that interrogatory response also on page 1 of 6, Enbridge indicated that, and I quote again:

"Analyses that evaluated alternatives to renewing capacity on TransCanada and sourcing gas in Alberta were completed.  These analyses indicated that the lowest-cost alternative to renewing capacity on TransCanada was to source gas supply in Chicago and contract on Vector."


Do you also see that?


MR. CHARLESON:  yes, I do.


MR. ROSS:  With respect to all the contracts we've just discussed, ANR-MichCon, ANR-Link, Niagara-Link, between now and the time action is required to extend them, does Enbridge plan to undertake a comprehensive analysis of available contracting options as it did in the RP-2003‑0203 matter?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, we would look at the economic analysis and that would form ‑‑ and as we indicated earlier on this afternoon, that would be one of the key elements in making a determination around the renewal of those contracts and whether we should.  It would be one of the factors.  It would not be the only factor that we would look at.  


We would also look at factors associated with diversity of supply, access to alternate markets and/or even potential access to other storage facilities in Michigan through the use of those transportation paths.  But an economic analysis would definitely form a part of that analysis.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to take you to what is marked as page 5 of 6 of that same interrogatory response, and it is appendix 1 of the same exhibit.  I will give you a moment to turn it up.


Can we agree it shows an analysis to determine the delivered cost of gas to Enbridge Gas Distribution's central delivery area and a comparison between Alberta, TransCanada PipeLines and Chicago Vector alternatives?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, it does.


MR. ROSS:  And in column 10, you show what is referred to as a Vector penalty in your analysis, and this is approximately 16 cents per gJ; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  It's also correct, is it not, that the Vector penalty reflects an additional cost levied against the Vector option to reflect the fact that in allowing the TransCanada pipeline capacity to expire, costs on the remaining TransCanada capacity held by Enbridge are likely to increase?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.  We felt as part of doing our analysis, because of the volumes that were being considered, it was important that we understood the implications of such a decision on other tolls that we were paying.


And so as part of doing a thorough economic analysis, we factored in an estimate of what that impact would be.


MR. ROSS:  Would you agree that, subject to check, the Vector penalty, in dollar terms per year, embedded in your analysis in the fiscal 2004 rates case was 8.5 million a year?


MR. CHARLESON:  That would have to be subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  Subject to check.  If we ‑‑ could we derive it, for example, by multiplying the Vector penalty of .1564 by the annual volume under consideration in this analysis?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  And the annual volume under consideration in the analysis would be 149818 gJ a day, and then to annualize it multiply by 365?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, just not doing the math at the table right now.


MR. ROSS:  Fair enough.


MR. CHARLESON:  But in terms of the approach for arriving at a number, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  So subject to check, it would be 8.5 million a year, or in that range?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  Would you also agree that much has changed since that analysis was done?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would say the market has changed significantly.


MR. ROSS:  For instance, in the analysis filed in RP-2003‑0203 in front of you, Enbridge assumed the TCPL toll forecast for transport to the CDA for November '05 of 1.424 gJs -- 1.42 dollars per gJs?


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry?


MR. ROSS:  I'm looking under ‑‑ I'm looking under what is column 4, TCPL transport, across from November '05.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I see the number now.


MR. ROSS:  But according to the current approved National Energy Board toll that we discussed earlier in ‑‑ earlier today, this amount for TransCanada is just under a dollar; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  TransCanada has responded well to the increased competition for transportation capacity and, as a result of the introduction of Alliance and Vector, it has helped to drive down tolls and efficiencies within TransCanada's system.  So we would see that as being a positive outcome of the introduction of a competitive pipeline.


MR. ROSS:  Moving to column 11 and 12 of appendix 1, I note that you include TransCanada Pipeline transport and TransCanada Pipeline fuel amounts, Which you describe as the TransCanada Pipeline, and I quote, "short haul toll to transport from Dawn to Enbridge's CDA"; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And is it also correct that you did that to make sure you compared the cost of transporting gas via TransCanada pipeline to the CDA and the cost of transporting gas on Vector, also to Enbridge's CDA?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And would you also, therefore, agree that this reinforces our earlier discussion of the concept that when a proper ‑‑ that a proper cost analysis must consider gas delivered at a common point when a buyer is looking to acquire gas supply?


MR. CHARLESON:  I would still stand by my earlier statement that you have to look at it in terms of how it's used on an annual basis.


I believe that this analysis takes a more conservative approach towards the cost of Vector transport, because it is assuming that you're going to have to move all of that gas to Dawn ‑‑ or to CDA, excuse me; whereas, in reality, for a portion of the year, the gas that you're delivering through Vector is not going to necessarily be subjected to the cost of moving it from Dawn to the CDA.  It would be injected into storage, and then we have existing contractual arrangements for which there is always demand charges associated, for example, our Union M12 contract, that's able to move that gas.


So I think this provides a very conservative view, in terms of the costs of the Vector path, again, trying to ensure that the analysis, you know, looked at the common delivery points, but even, you know, penalized the Vector route to an extent so that the ‑‑ to remove any doubt in terms of the analysis.


MR. ROSS:  So would a more appropriate analysis be to compare the Vector cost to the TransCanada southwest zone?


MR. CHARLESON:  No.  I think you still have to look at it, on a twelve‑month basis, what are the total transportation costs going to be for the gas that you need to move from Chicago to when or where it is ultimately going to be consumed, similarly to TransCanada, in terms of the gas, where it's going to be most economically consumed. 


You may look at that and maybe comparing it to be southwest zone provides a comparable comparison, but then that's not taking into consideration other services you may be able to ‑‑ that we may be able to avail ourselves to that TransCanada has available associated with firm transportation into the eastern zone.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to move, if I may, into one final area, and rest assured, Madam Chair, I think we're in the home stretch so -- with any luck.


If I could refer you specifically to Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 25, page 2?  I will give you a moment to turn it up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the schedule reference, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Schedule 25, page 2, Exhibit "I". 


MR. CHARLESON:  We have that.


MR. ROSS:  There you show a breakdown of your forecasted supply requirements for the test year by supply source; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ROSS:  I take it that these volumes should tie in or be consistent with the volumes shown at Exhibit DI, tab 2, schedule 1?


MR. SMALL:  They do.  The only qualifier is that the forecasted number for 2006 for western Canadian supply includes the amount that we would be buying for fuel on TransCanada.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Now is the volume of 2,276.5 million metres cubed, opposite Chicago supply at Exhibit "I", tab 25, schedule 25 the volumes that you intend to purchase in the Chicago area in the test year?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And so those Chicago area purchases don't include any volumes that Enbridge purchases in western Canada and transports through Alliance; correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Looking at the percentages at that same schedule, this schedule shows a 45.26 percent of your test year forecasted supply is purchased in the Chicago area; correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And would the volume opposite the contract type referred to as delivered supply of 891.7 million metres cubed represent the supply that you expect to purchase in the southern United States and transport through ANR, MichCon and Link, plus any other supplies you expect to purchase at Dawn?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And this represents 17.73 percent of your forecasted supply volumes in the test year?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And turning to the contract type referred to as western Canadian supply, the volume of 1,830.4 million metres cubed represents 36.39 percent of your forecasted supply volumes for the test year; right?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Now, do the western Canadian supply volumes include both western Canadian supply that is transported via Alliance and western Canadian supply that is transported via TransCanada?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And could you help me by breaking out the supply volume that is forecast to be transported via TransCanada and the supply volume that is forecast to be transported via Alliance?


MR. SMALL:  You can find that in two places.  You can see that at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, or, if you prefer, you could turn to the response to TransCanada Interrogatory No. 2, I believe it is.


MR. ROSS:  Can we confirm, in respect of the TransCanada pipeline volumes, that they are the sum in Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1 of lines 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4?


MR. SMALL:  You would also have to include 1.6, if you were to look to see the amount that was being delivered.  But the amount being acquired or purchased would exclude the fuel, yes.


MR. ROSS:  Excluding fuel, subject to check, our answer for TransCanada would be 868 106 times metres cubed?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Subject to check.


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. ROSS:  Cubic metres?


MR. SMALL:  Hmm‑hmm.


MR. ROSS:  Can we also agree again, looking at line 1.5 of Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, that the Alliance amount would be 962.4 times 106 cubic metres?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  So if we break out the western Canadian supply volumes of 1,830.4 into two parts - the volume that is transported to Enbridge via TransCanada of 868.0 million cubic metres and the volume that is transported to Enbridge via Alliance - can you verify, subject to check, that the TransCanada pipeline volumes would represent 17.3 percent of your forecasted supply volumes for your test year?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  And subject to check, again, on the same basis we've been discussing, can you accept that the Alliance volumes would represent 19.1 percent of your forecasted supply volumes for the test year?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  And to get the total volumes that you forecast to transport to Dawn via Vector, would I add the Alliance volumes that we've just arrived at, that being 962.4 million cubic metres, to the previously discussed Chicago supplies, that being 2,276.5 106 cubic metres?


MR. SMALL:  That would represent the total amount flowing out of Vector, yes.


MR. ROSS:  So can you help me with this:  Would we get to that volume by adding the Alliance volume of 962.4 metres -- million cubic metres to the Chicago supply volume we've discussed, and that would be in the range of 3,238.9 million cubic metres?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  Subject to check.  Then carrying this analysis one step further, the forecasted percentage of system supply being transported by Enbridge on Vector for the test year would be 64.40 percent?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check, and you're only referring to the volumes that are flowing for system supply?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMALL:  Okay.  The reason I just want to qualify that is because as part of this forecast, we've assumed a certain level of direct purchase.  So to the extent that we start off with our contracted TCPL capacity, if we've assumed a certain amount is going to be assigned away, or 

-- for Ontario TCPL purposes, or there's a certain amount that is going to be flowing out of Western T-service arrangements, what you see here as being the supply is what is left to fill or what we have to buy to fill that remaining capacity.  


That doesn't necessarily mean that's all we're going to be flowing out of TransCanada.


MR. ROSS:  I accept that.  I'm not concerned here with direct purchase.  The Vector pipeline is a single line; correct?


MR. SMALL:  As far as I know, yes.


MR. ROSS:  And I wonder if I could also get you to help me break out the delivered supply volume of 891.7 million cubic metres.  Specifically, can you tell me how much of that is forecast to be delivered via the link pipeline?


MR. SMALL:  On Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, item number 5.1 identifies the volumes that we intend to move through the Link pipeline.


MR. ROSS:  For the record, please go ahead.


MR. SMALL:  255,000 RAM for the year.


MR. ROSS:  Again, subject to check, if we divided 255.4 by 5,029.4 million cubic metres, the supplies delivered via the Link pipeline would work out to be roughly 5 percent of your forecasted supply volumes for the test year?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  And is the Link pipeline a single line?


MR. SMALL:  As far as I know, yes.


MR. ROSS:  So if we add the Link pipeline volume to the Vector pipeline -- to the Vector volume, we would get a volume, again subject to check, of 3,494.3 million cubic metres.


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  That is, we're adding 238.9 and 255.4?


MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.


MR. ROSS:  Subject to check.  And if we looked at the percentages we've discussed - that is, the percentage of system supply being transported by Enbridge on Vector, being 64.40 percent - and the supplies delivered via the Link pipeline to be roughly 5 percent, would you agree that 69.5 or in that range of your forecasted supply volumes for that test year are delivered by Enbridge ‑‑ to Enbridge by Vector and the Link pipeline, that the percentage would be roughly 69 percent?


MR. SMALL:  Of the gas that we're going to be buying, yes, but there's still going to be a significant amount flowing through TransCanada on direct purchase.


MR. ROSS:  And that number, that volume represented by 69 percent, could in fact be higher, depending on how your delivered supplies ‑‑ delivered supply arrives at your franchise; correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  Perhaps you can clarify or try to ask it a different way.


MR. ROSS:  Could there ‑‑ why don't I leave it at that?  We've determined a number of 69 percent.  I will move to another area.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, you're right.  It is 69 percent of the system gas volumes, which represents about 40 percent of the total gas that we distribute.


MR. ROSS:  Would you agree that contract renewal provisions and length of contract terms are important considerations for making upstream contractual arrangements?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. ROSS:  Would you also agree that shorter notice periods and shorter minimum terms, such as a one-year renewable contract, reflect greater flexibility for customers than contracts for two years or longer?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree that a shorter-term contract does provide that additional flexibility.  However, there are also requirements for long‑term contracts to support the development of an expansion of existing lines.


MR. ROSS:  So can we agree in principle, then, that contracting flexibility is an important issue?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Thank you, witnesses.  Thank you, members of the Board.  Subject to any questions, I have no further questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Are there any other intervenors who wish to question this panel?


MR. THOMPSON:  I have some questions at some point, Madam Chair, and I believe Ms. DeMarco has.  I'm in your hands.


MS. NOWINA:  We have 15 minutes.  Do you know how much time you're going to take, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Sixteen minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Actually, we have 16 minutes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I walked into that one.


MS. NOWINA:  So why don't we go ahead?


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, I have a few questions along the lines that Mr. Ross has been exploring, but they're at a fairly high level, and perhaps you could help me with these problems.  


First of all, do I understand correctly that there are a number of what I call upstream transportation contracts associated with the ANR-MichCon-Link path coming up for renewal?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And some of them come up for renewal as of October 2005, some October 2006, and some as of October 2007; have I got that straight?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, you do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for the purposes of developing your test year costs of upstream transportation, I understand that you have assumed that each of these contracts will be, you've used the word, I think, "renewed" with the existing upstream transportation service provider; is that correct?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But I think you've said that there are, in fact, no renewal provisions in these contracts.  You're assuming that you will enter into new arrangements with these upstream transportation service providers?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you appear to acknowledge that before you do that, there is a prerequisite of a very ‑‑ well, of a thorough economic analysis of alternatives.  Did I understand that correctly?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, an economic analysis of the alternatives should form a key part of any contracting decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, can you help me with the timing of this economic analysis?  And let's take, for example, Exhibit J1.6.  This is your response to a Board Staff interrogatory.


MR. CHARLESON:  I'm sorry, are you referring to K1.6?


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  Is it K or J?


MR. CHARLESON:  K, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, K1.6.  This is the document that was filed this morning by Mr. Ross in his cross‑examination, and it's the analysis that you did for the purposes of acquiring the third tranche of Vector.


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?  And you acquired the third tranche of Vector for a date commencing November 1, 2003?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then if we look over on the second page of this document, it appears to have been filed with the Board on August 20, 2003.  Do you see that up in the top right-hand corner?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so for an analysis with respect to a contract coming up for commitment effective November 1, 2003, it seems pretty clear you did the economic analysis sometime prior to August 20, 2003.


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So now we have some of these contracts coming up for renewal October 2005, but I thought I heard you say, "we have not done any economic analysis of alternatives".


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That is correct?


MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct, and I think you have to look at the difference between the contracts that we're talking about here.


In this case, we were trying to do an assessment around our renewal of TransCanada capacity, which -- where a decision had to be made prior to May first of 2003.  So in advance of that decision being made, it was necessary for us to complete the analysis so that we could make the appropriate turn-back election with TransCanada.


As we look at the contracts that Mr. Ross has been questioning, the volumes are quite small.  The analysis is probably a little less complex.  There's less of a driver behind it, in terms of contracting for additional or replacement capacity.  The volumes may be replaced with additional spot supplies at Dawn.  


So, therefore, we just haven't got to completing the analysis or really getting into a lot of the detail on the analysis for that, as yet.


MR. THOMPSON:  When do you expect the detailed economic analysis of options, with respect to these expiring contracts, to start? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Probably -- my guess is -- or, I would expect it to start in early September.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So we're half a month away from the analysis? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, and I would say --   

     MR. THOMPSON:  Approximately.     

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes -- from doing, say, a formal analysis of that.  That's about the timing that I would expect.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And when do you expect it to be completed? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Prior to October 31st.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's the last day.  Presumably -- 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  I would expect during September it would be. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you would expect to have this analysis completed by September of 2005.  Do I understand that correctly? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  That would be my expectation for the contract that’s renewing at the end of October.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And would that analysis, since all of -- since all of these contracts are tied to the one path, would I be mistaken to think you would analyze the whole scenario at the outset?  Or are you just going to do this in little chunks? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  No, I think we would take a look at, say, that whole, say, supply area, look at the different pieces of contract capacity that we have, determine which pieces we do need to consider now, which ones we can wait and what are the I am implications of those different decisions.  So, yes, I think it’s fair to say we wouldn't just look and say, Let's take a look at Link and make a decision on that and -- without considering the, say, the other pipes that are upstream of that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what are the options?  TransCanada, I assume, is an option.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  I’d say TransCanada is an option.  Dawn supply is an option.  Renew our recontracting for capacity on these lines is an option.  Additional Vector may be an option.

     There's some diversity of supply opportunities available to us, and I think we would have to look at what we saw as providing the best economic solution, while also looking at the longer-term benefits that may be achieved for ratepayers from the different alternatives.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And, with additional Vector being an option, do the amendments to the Board's Affiliate Relationships Code come into play?  And I'm thinking specifically of the business case analysis requirements of the Code, where -- and again, I'm paraphrasing, and I may not be doing this correctly, but my understanding is that, if you're going to enter into a new arrangement with an affiliate, you have to do a thorough business case analysis in advance of that type of commitment.  Is that your understanding of the --  

     MR. CHARLESON:  In terms --

     MR THOMPSON:   -- Code requirement? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- of the Affiliate Relationship Code, yes, that's my understanding.  I think we would have to look at whether we felt -- or whether we believed that the, say, contracting for capacity on that route fell within the Affiliate Code.  If we’re -- say, if we’re contracting with -- say, for the secondary market, does it fit within there?  Does the definitions within the Affiliate Code apply?  But again, I think, in terms of what we're talking about around the economic alternatives and the different paths, is, in essence, what would form the -- a business case.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that was really what I was getting at.  The analysis that you're contemplating, you're expecting that it will meet the business case criteria that the Code imposes.  It would be that kind of rigorous analysis. 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I would expect it to be sufficient to support the contracting decision.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then, coming back to the assumption that you've made about renewal, or new contracts, as of October 1, 2005, and you're making that same assumption with respect to the ones that expire in the test year, October -- maybe it’s 31, 2006.  Am I correct? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And Mr. Ross' analysis suggests that, as we sit here today, the cost implications of that assumption, compared to the TCPL path, are about $4 million more.  

     MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.  And we can only hope that TransCanada is able to keep its tolls at the levels they're at today. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, my question is this:  given the situation as it prevails today, isn't the more prudent assumption that the TCPL path is the more

cost-effective path? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  It may be, but we have to look at the assumptions that underpin that analysis.  We have to look at what the future expectations are.  And I don't think we're saying we’ve precluded it from being a more economic path.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But if you made that assumption for the purposes of the rate filing, would not the costs of gas be about $4 million less? 

     MR. SMALL:  I guess the difficulty I'm having is, if I look back to when we were preparing the 2006 -- for example, if I was to look at the TransCanada southwest Empress to southwest delivery area toll, it was a difference of 15 cents, than it is today.  

     So the -- if we were to look at the difference between the two pipelines, it's less than $4 million ANR; it's, like, only 2 million.  So why we would be precluding -- or, what would we have known then - obviously we know a lot more now - but when we were preparing the budget costs, the only choice we had was to assume continuation of those pipelines, knowing that we would go through a detailed analysis as we came closer.  And we also felt that we had an option, when we come forward for our QRAM applications, if there was a change in our transportation costs, just like there are with TSPEL toll changes, we would incorporate those as part of the QRAM. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me ask this:  As a matter of principle, does the company agree that it should be making the cost effective -- the assumptions, for the purposes of costing upstream transportation, that are the most

cost-effective at the time the case is presented? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I think the difficulty I have with that is, it means every time we're getting ready to file a rate case, we have to have completed all of our analysis and all of our assumptions for -- with regards to renewals that may be coming up over the next few years.  And the difficulty with that be -- may be that the assumptions that you make at that point in time will still be problematic, or may change, by the time you come to actually making that renewal decision.  

     So costs are going to change.  Your decision points may change.  So, for the purpose of filing the rate application, it seems to me that the most prudent approach is to make -- you know, make assumptions that that capacity will be renewed, allow time to pass to where the economic decisions have to be made, or where the contracting decisions have to be made, and then there are mechanisms already in place, in relation to the gas costs, that ratepayers are held whole in terms of the outcome of those decisions.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that what you did with Vector, tranche 3? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  Again, in terms of Vector, tranche 3, the timing allowed -- such that it was able to be included within the rate application.  It's all a matter of timing when decisions get made, or decisions need to be made, and the timing of a rate application.   The two time-lines, generally, don't align.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are you prepared to undertake to file, before the close of this case, the economic analysis that will be commenced in September? 

     MR. CHARLESON:  I guess it’s not clear when this case will be completed.  I would hope that it's completed before the end of September.  So it's difficult -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm not sure today, Mr. Charleson.     

     MR. CHARLESON:  I'm trying to be an optimist. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, do you have a comment to make? 

     MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.    

     MR. CHARLESON:  So again --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me put it to --

     MR. CHARLESON:  -- you know, to the extent that, you know, that analysis is completed prior to the conclusion of the case, we can.  But I'm not sure to what end, because would that then mean having to go back and revisit and update all of the gas-cost numbers? 

     MR. SMALL:  The only thing I would caution, I guess, is that -- are we suggesting that that would be one element, and one element, alone, that you would update for?  I mean, we've tried to stay away from any kind of updates at all.  We certainly recognize that the QRAM application is going to be available to accept gas-supply changes and commodity costs.  So we think we maybe have a vehicle available, that we include that as part of the January 1, '06 QRAM.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will ask the question again.  Are you prepared to file it so that -- when I say "file", I mean produce it to interested parties, so they can have a chance to examine it before it's too late?  In effect, you've made your decision.


MR. CHARLESON:  I don't understand why it would be too late.  As I indicated I think at the beginning of the cross‑examination, the Board has the opportunity to review any contracts that we've entered into.  It may be in our best interest to try to produce it in advance of there, because to the extent what we contract for is deemed to be imprudent, then the Board may disallow costs after we have incurred them, and that would be to the account of the shareholder.  


So I see the risk being borne by the shareholder if we make decisions that the Board feels weren't prudent around the contracting for capacity.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will try it one more time, perhaps, this way.


The current situation suggests that the TransCanada path may be as much as $4 million more favourable, and that's what Mr. Ross has demonstrated with that document he took you through. Okay?


MR. CHARLESON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I guess what I'm asking you to consider is undertaking to file the results of your evaluation of alternatives before the contract renewal date is upon us, in order to avoid the risk of Enbridge facing a disallowance of $4 million a year. 


Are you prepared to do that?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I could just ask one question, and that is:  Is my friend asking whether or not the company is prepared to file this after the evidentiary portion of this proceeding is concluded, and, if so, would he then be asking that it be reopened for further oral and written evidence?  


I'm just uncertain, given the evidence of Mr. Charleson, that it may not be until the latter portion of September before we have this economic analysis completed.  I don't know where we are.  To give an undertaking that I would be afraid is meaningless is of concern to us.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm asking that it be filed before November 1, 2003, when it is completed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Then I ask, for what purpose?


MR. THOMPSON:  For the purposes of review by interested parties and to take action on it, if appropriate.  A la Mr. Warren's review of the Board's suggestions that advance approval of these kinds of situations is the best way to deal with the prudence matter.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, I guess I would ask Mr. O'Leary's question:  To what purpose, and then what might the interested parties do with the document, if they received it?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think they would have to assess that in the context of when the document was made available, but it could be -‑ it could be in this proceeding.  It could be by way of a separate application.  I'm trying to avoid another Alliance-Vector debacle as we had after the fact in prior cases.  


If the company won't undertake to do it, I guess I can't ‑‑


MR. CHARLESON:  I guess I leave it in the hands of the Board in terms of whether they see it is being helpful or fitting within this case.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Well, we will leave it as an undertaking at the discretion of the applicant; that is, we won't create an undertaking now.  It's up to the applicant whether or not they want to provide it.


Mr. Thompson, any further questions?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Before we adjourn, thank you, Mr. Thompson for moving through that quickly.  I just wanted to mention one information item, I guess, or ‑‑ it came up during that discussion, a question on the -‑ on one of our codes, on the Affiliate Relationship Code.  And I just wanted to make clear that a rates case is not where we test compliance.  


So although certainly the principles that inform our codes are often, and are, the same principles that determine just and reasonable rates, the principles may apply, but we don't ask for testing of compliance issues within a rate case.  It's not the appropriate place to handle that.  


I just make that clear, because I think it may be an issue or be perceived to be an issue in some of the other discussions we're going to be having over the next few weeks.


So we will be continuing with this topic tomorrow.  Ms. DeMarco, you want to question this panel?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, Madam Chair.  What I will do is undertake to -- I will review the transcript in detail tonight to see if I can minimize the amount of time I will spend.


I estimate that Mr. Warren has done the lion's share of my intended cross on this issue and, as a result, I hope to be no more than 10 or 15 minutes, maximum.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  Anyone else plan to question this panel?  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Subject to discussions at the intervenor summit meeting later on, I may have 10 or 15 minutes, or I may not.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, I may have five or ten minutes, as well.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  With that, we will adjourn until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.

PAGE  

